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REPORT OF THE GENERAL COMMITTEE <For the y.:ar ended 31 December. I998J 

The General Committee has pleasure in 
presenting its report together with the 
a c c o un t s  for the year  ended 31 '' 
December, 1998. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
The role of the Chamber is to promote, 
represent and safeguard the interests of 
the Hong Kong business community. 

ACCOUNTS 
The state of the Chamber's affairs at 31st 
December, 1998 and the result for the 
year ended are set out in the accounts on 
pages 24-31. 

ASSETS 
Details of the movements in assets are 
shown in notes 3-6 and 8 to the accounts. 

GENERAL COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
The General Committee Members who 
held office during the year are set out on 
Page 1. No Member o f  the General 
Committee, or any other Members of the 
C h a m b e r, r e c e i v e d  a n y  form o f  
remuneration in return for their services, 
other than normal professional or similar 
fees paid for services or supplies rendered 
to the Chamber and no portion of the 
income or property of the Chamber was 
paid or transferred directly or indirectly 
by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise 
to Members of the Chamber. 

INTEREST IN CONTRACTS 
No contract of significance to which the 
Chamber was a party and in which a 
General Committee Member had a 
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material interest subsisted at the end of 
the year nor at any time during the year. 

AUDITORS 
A resolution for the re-appointment of 
KPMG as auditors of the Chamber is to 
be proposed at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting. 

By Order of the General Committee, 

Mr Peter Sutch 
Chairman 

on 22 March 1999 
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The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

CHAIRMAN'S REVIEW 

The 1998 calendar year was a difficult and 
challenging one for the local economy, 
the business community and the 
Chambe r. The Chairman, Mr Pe t e r  
Sutch, gives his assessment of the year. 

A
s one of the freest and most open 
market economies in the world, 
H o n g  K o n g  is w e l l  u s e d  to 

confronting and overcoming the inevitable 
impact of adverse regional and global 
economic conditions. It has a well-deserved 
reputation world-wide for being able to take 
the economic blows and to bounce back fitter 
and more competitive than ever. 

But as the East Asian financial crisis 
tightened its grip on the region in the early 
months of 1998, even Hong Kong's legendary 
resilience was severely tested as the local 
economy slipped into recession. Total output 
for the year is estimated to have declined 
some 5 per cent in real terms, business 
revenues were hit hard and unemployment 
rose to a record level. While Hong Kong can 
expect some economic improvement in 1999, 
it will take some time to get back on the road 
to sustained growth. 

In such circumstances, it is reassuring to 
be able to report that your Chamber once 
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again performed solidly in what was an 
extremely difficult year financially. Members 
can, I believe, take great satisfaction in the 
Chamber's record during the 12 months to 
December 3 1, 1998, one of the most 
challenging years for business in Hong 
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Kong's modem history. Faced with the most 
severe economic downturn in a quarter of a 
century, perhaps longer, the Chamber worked 
harder to serve members better, promote 
community development and improve its 
own effectiveness and efficiency. 

Across all its activities, the Chamber 
sought to fulfill its mission statement to 
Chamber members a n d  t h e  broader 
community: "To Promote, Represent and 
Safeguard the Interests of the Hong Kong 
Business Community." At the same time, 
through sound management practices, it was 
able to maintain its solid membership base 
and produce a financial result that should be 
satisfactory to members given the difficult 
business conditions. 

Personal Note 
On a personal note, however, it is with 

somewhat mixed feelings that I present my 
report for the 12 months under review. I am 
pleased, of course, that the Chamber had 
another solid, if financially difficult year, in 
1998. But there is also a touch of sadness 
associated with this report because, as some 
of you may already know, I will be shortly 
leaving the Chamber- and Hong Kong- on 
a�signment back to the Swire Group's office 
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in London. This will be, therefore, my first 
and last annual report to you as Chairman. 

After arriving in Hong Kong thirty-three 
years ago, my faith in this unique place 
among the global family of truly international 
cities remains undiminished. Hong Kong has 
faced many challenges in the past, but has 
met them head-on and ultimately produced 
the rewards for those who maintained their 
faith in it. My past year as Chamber Chairman 
has certainly been a challenging and 
rewarding one for me personally and one that 
I will remember long after I step down at the 
conclusion of this year's annual meeting on 
27 April1999. I thank. all Chamber members, 
my fellow General Committee and Council 
members, and the Chamber staff, for their 
support during my 12 months as Chairman. 

Lessons Learned 
Looking back over the year in review, 

clearly every silver lining had a cloud! Evenl� 
which were supposed to give a boost to the 
Hong Kong SAR economy and enhance 
community confidence in the 1nidst of the 
broader regional financial and economic crisis 
seemed invariably to go wrong. Despite this, 
I believe we can look to the future with some 
confidence knowing that we have been tested 
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and not found entirely wanting. The lessons 
leamed in this very difficult year will serve us 
well in the future - provided they are learned! 

Domestically, the Hong Kong SAR 
Government's 1998-99 Budget, one of the 
most positive in recent memory with 
substantial tax cuts and other benefits, had to 
be substantially revised as the year progressed 
and the impact of the East Asian financial 
crisis hit home and land supply had to be 
totally suspended. The opening of the SAR's 
proud new airport at Chek Lap Kok, meant 
to be the highlight of the year, was dogged 
by controversy when things did not initially 
go as smoothly as was planned. But we now 
have a magnificent, smooth-working and 
world-class facility. 

Events outside Hong Kong's control, as 
with events within it, also seemed to be 
invariably negative. The impact of the East 
Asian economic crisis worsened as the year 
progressed and was only showing some signs 
of stabilisation towards year's end and a solid 
tumaround may still be some way off. Local 
economic growth turned negative early in the 
year and unemployment increased. Interest 
rates rose and both the share and property 
markets slumped especially in the opening 
eight months of t h e  year, before the 
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Govenunent stepped in to attempt to stabilise 
the markets and the Hong Kong dollar. 
Tourist numbers declined further in the first 
half of the year before recovering slightly in 
the second six months. The avian flu crisis, 
the red tides, the problems in the hospital 
system and environmental concerns, all 
served to undermine community confidence 
to a greater or lesser degree. 

Changed Strategies 
On the economic front, the Government 

was forced to completely revise its strategy 
as the year progressed and in May and June 
announced several packages of measures 
aimed at stabilising the property and financial 
markets, bolstering growth and stemming the 
rise in unemployment. The most important 
of these was on June 22, when new land sales 
were suspended. Then, in August the 
Government took the surprise decision to 
intervene in the securities markets, an 
exercise that resulted in the purchase of $118 
billion worth of Hong Kong shares. This was 
followed by seven measures to bolster 
securities market regulation and practices. 

Some of the negative feeling in the 
commuoity during the year can be attributed 
to an understandable let down following the 
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The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

CHAIRMAN'S REVIEW 

excitement and undoubted success of the 
return of Hong Kong sovereignty to the 
People's Republic of China on July I, 1997. 
Expectations were certainly extremely high 
immediately after the hand-over and there 
were non-economic misfortunes and enors 
in the domestic policy-making arena that 
added to the overall difficulties. 

Most of the setbacks were, however, 
directly attributable to the continued impact of 
the East Asian financial crisis and the broader 
economic and political effects it had - and 
continues to have - throughout the region. It is 
the financial crisis that caused economic growth 
to slow dramatically, with all the consequences 
it had for overall levels of confidence in the 
local community. This is not something that 
will be easily reversed in the near term. 

Some Successes 
There were though some successes. The 

election for the first SAR Legislative Council 
has to be counted as one of them. The record 
turnout of almost 1.5 million voters and the 
smooth running of the election process, 
despite adverse weather conditions on polling 
day, was more than just a vote for democracy 
and indeed politics! It was vote of confidence 
in the longer-term future of the SAR, despite 
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t h e  s h o r t- term e c o n o m i c  s e t b a c k s  
immediately affecting it. 

The celebrations held to mark the first 
anniversary of the SAR on July l, including, 
importantly, the visit ofPresidentJiang Zemin, 
also must be counted as one of the year's 
successes. So, too, was the visit of the US 
President Bill Clinton to round off his official 
visit to China. While there were doubts in the 
beginning, the Government's market 
intervention is now generally regarded as 
justified. Such events were, however, like 
gems in the desert as the community in its 
broadest sense felt the full effects of the onset 
of the East Asian financial and economic c1isis. 

T h r o u g hout t h e  y e a r ,  the Chief 
Executive, Mr Tung Chee Hwa, and other 
members of the SAR Government continued 
to represent Hong Kong well, especially in 
delivering a positive message about the SAR 
to the rest of the world. At a time when all 
East Asian economies tended to be lumped 
together as a result of the impact of the 
financial crisis, it is crucial that the Hong 
Kong SAR differentiate itself. 

Economic and Business Conditions 
It may seem surprising now, but as the old 

year of transition to Chinese sovereignty faded 

�·rt�+AW�·�M**«��*$ 

�A±ffl�·��-�"*��·ill�* 

f.IlitJfMiJi'.:t'd!IjJ"Cf • I!Hl7 �If\: • ;$::fltl-

¥XffiiJ!tJ • �JlHffJ�-R� � � +% • �flf�mlf:t 

:(£ 199H {f: :l.FI LH E loLi:Z:.7�*4tl\3(fflJ.1� 

a.l. t:!!.tJ.4�1$:Ma9•�jt�-Rmtt �.5% • 

t�·-MBm�m��WA±�B 

m�·*��•mm�frm�••·�� 

M�ffl�����ttB•*fr«ffl��0 

m1H<Jtir�"f-lffi:(£ f Ii!ii WW 199R/99 '<f­
Mftffl�-J��ft��··��ffl*� 

��•m·���H&ffi�W*���� 

•••�emm•·m��=ft�ft�� 

trt R § �fti!if!B • 

J.i.till�? 
m�����oo.FI•·m��0�* 

•*••� M � k� � � · � •m m � 

*·�KW�··��ID�m·R��­

��· 5B2GB ·���*•••m 

*·fift�•�m•�0���·��� 

��r�w••Jw�.����e&· 

fm-ttr:.B : r�!l!i�t�tt:AA'*�Ili�W.h • ftliJWl 
ffl.�.t¥:R: • JPN7C1� • J!,f·ftiiJi:iJ-N:�J�ttif 

IJ)'II.;JM: • :u% (191\�' R g tJW � r Jrrh.t tH.X J 

1'1'� 0 

4 

and the new calendar year of 1998 came into 
view, the outlook for the local economy was 
not that bad. Most forecasters. including the 
Chamber, were expecting an economic slow 
down in the year ahead, but not the dramatic 
decline that actually occurred. The consensus 
foreca�t as the old year closed was for growth 
in the three-to-four per cent range. Even the 
Government was forecasting 3.5 per cent 
growth as late a� FebJUary 18 when it presented 
its Budget to the Legislative Council. 

By that time, however, it was clear to the 
business community, with its finger on the 
pulse of the economy, that economic 
conditions were deteriorating rapidly and that 
the earlier forecasts were clearly going to be 
unattainable. In its post-Budget review and 
"Business and the Budget" luncheon. the 
Chamber was moved to question the 
Government's growth target and raised 
doubts about whether it was achievable. This, 
despite welcoming the measures taken in the 
Budget (including tax cuts, freezes in fees 
and charges and increased capital spending) 
aimed at stimulating growth. 

Delayed Reaction? 
It was to b e  another three months, 

however, before the Government publicly 
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recogn ized that  t h e  economy w a s  
experiencing far greater difficulties than had 
been expected and was likely to contract 
rather than expand. On May 26, two days 
after the Legislative Council elections, the 
Chief Executive, Mr Tung Chee Hwa, 
announced publicly that Hong Kong had 
been suffering from a "bubble economy" 
and that the bubble had now burst. "The 
growth of the economy will fall substantially 
and indeed may even be negative," he said. 
Two days later, the Financial Secretary, Mr 
Donald Tsang Yam-kuen, agreed that the 
3 . 5  p e r  c e n t  g r o w t h  t a r g e t  w a s  
"unattainable". 

The recognition that the economy was 
slowing faster than had even been expected 
at B udget time brought action from 
Government, as did apparent pressure on the 
Hong Kong dollar, with overnight interest 
rates soaring on several occasions. Seven 
"bold measures" to counter the economic 
difficulties came on May 29, were quickly 
followed by several steps to combat 
unemployment and then on June 22 by eight 
more substantial moves to stabilise the 
property market and bolster liquidity, 
including the suspension of Govemment land 
sales by auction and tender. 

Market Intervention 
As the economy continued to contract, 

and property and share prices fell further, 
cross-market activities between the foreign 
exchange and securities markets began to put 
pressure on the Hong Kong dollar exchange 
rate yet  aga in .  I n  m i d-August ,  the 
Government moved in most dramatic fashion 
to counter this activity by buying into the 
equity and futures markets in a bid to remove 
alleged speculators. At the end of this 
exercise, the Government had spent $1 1 8  
billion and built up substantial shareholdings 
in all Hang Seng Index constituency stocks. 

The Government intervention gave an 
initial boost to the share market, but a more 
dramatic recovery occurred soon after as it 
became apparent that the US central bank, 
the Federal Reserve Board, was about to stmt 
cutting shmt term interest rates and that Hong 
Kong was likely to follow. The Federal 
Re�erve began cutting rates by a quarter of a 
per cent in late September and several further 
cuts followed. By the end of the year, Hong 
Kong rates had also come down one per cent 
in nominal terms. 

Despite the cuts i n  nominal rates, 
however, the rapid decline in Hong Kong 
inflation meant that real interest rates in the 

Premier Zhu with members of the General Committee's 1998 delegation to Beijing. 
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local market remained extremely high. It is 
little surprise, therefore, that investment and 
consumer demand in the local economy 
stayed weak in almost all sectors and overall 
economic growth continued to contract. As 
a result, the total output of goods and services 
is estimated to have fallen by an average 5 
per cent compared with 1 997. Business 
conditions generally remained on the fragile 
side, unemployment rose and wages came 
under pressm·e. 

The Outlook 
The 1 998 calendar year therefore 

represents the first time since Hong Kong 
began collecting Gross Domestic Product 
figures almost 38 years ago that the local 
economy has declined for four consecutive 
quarters. It is also be the first Lime the local 
economy has contracted over a full year. The 
decline in demand throughout the year also 
resulted in prices being substantially reduced 
across the whole economy and by the year's 
end Hong Kong was recording modest 
consumer price detlation. 

The outlook for the year ahead remains 
highly uncettain with the forecasts of private 
sector analysts for the local economy r'anging 
anywhere from zero growth to a negative four 
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or five per cent. What is known, however, 
suggests that 1999 will continue to exhibit 
the weakness in overall output of goods and 
services evident throughout the 1998 calendar 
year, although at a slower rate of decline. For 
its part, the Chamber expects the overall 
economy to contract by a further one per cent 
in 1 999, with economic growth dampened 
by the higher levels of real interest rates, weak 
domestic demand and investment, and poor 
external trade conditions. But the downward 
movement in the property market, flat or even 
declining wage levels and a new focus on 
the need to improve productivity will result 
i n  a much needed improvement in Hong 
Kong's competitiveness. 

Chamber Activities 
In common with the rest of the 

community, the Chamber had to cope with 
the impact of the economic crisis during the 
year. In its external relations with members 
and the broader business community, the 
Chamber was busier than ever. It extended 
its services and sought to make them even 
more relevant to members in current business 
conditions. It continued to lobby the 
Administration on matters of interest to the 
business community, specifically the Small 
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and Medium Enterprises (SME) community, 
through members' participation of various 
advisory bodies to Government and by direct 
submissions to the relevant authorities on 
many issues 

Once again, the Chamber presented to the 
Financial  Secretary its  pre-Budget  
submission on Government fiscal policy and 
w a s  p l e a s e d  t o  s e e  m a n y  o f  i t s  
recommendations taken up in the 1 998-99 
Budget, especially the cut in corporate profits 
tax and the freeze in fees and charges. This 
latter issue was especially important to small 
and medium enterprises. The Chamber has 
already delivered its pre-Budget submission 
for the 1999-2000 fiscal year to the Financial 
Secretary. 

During the year, I again took the 
opportunity to write to the Chief Executive 
ahead of his October Policy Address to bring 
to his attention our major concerns regarding 
Government policies and the economic and 
business outlook. In October, too, the 
Chamber issued its annual guideline on 
wages for the 1999 calendar year and this 
important advisory notice was again well 
received by members. As a reminder, the 
Chamber recommended no increase i n  
salaties and wages for 1999. I believe this 
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approach, initially somewhat criticised, has 
now the general support of the community. 

Active Programme 
The Chamber's programmes continued to 

expand both in terms of quantity and quality, 
with regular monthly luncheons featuring 
prominent speakers, roundtables on more 
detailed subjects of interest to members and 
seminars and conferences on issues of current 
concern. Of particular importance in this 
regard is the upgrading and expansion of 
events related to the Mainland. Once again 
this year the General Committee made its 
annual visit to Beijing and met with Mainland 
leaders, including Premier Zhu Rongji. 

Throughout the year, the Chamber and its 
various Divisions, including the Coalition of 
Service Industries and the Hong Kong 
Franchise Association, were also kept busy in 
lobbying Government and providing vital 
support services to members and other 
interested parties. The Chamber's wholly owned 
subsidiary , Chamber Services Ltd, also 
expanded its activities during the year arranging 
exhibitions, conferences and seminars and 
acting as advertising representative for The 
Bulletin magazine and the new Chamber 
Website (www.hkgcc.org.hk) 
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During the year the Chamber also 
introduced two new broad categories of 
membership, the Overseas Associate Member 
and the Mainland Associate Member. 
Towards year's end it also introduced a new 
class of membership aimed at the many users 
of the Certification of Origin (CO) service, the 
CO Subscriber Associate Membership. The 
Certification Division continued to expand its 
services to members throughout the year, 
making access to and payment for its vmious 
products far easier. At year's end, it began to 
offer assistance to customers using electronic 
data interchange trade documentation, to help 
the Hong Kong trader enter the information 
highway. 

Internally, the Chamber also went 
through a substantial upgrading exercise, with 
new computer equipment being introduced, 
the United Centre office being expanded and 
renovated and some re-organisation of 
responsibilities within the Chmnber structure. 
Importantly, the Chamber also launched its 
Website dwing the year (www.hkgcc.org.hk) 
and the site now includes all the most 
important services available to Chamber 
members and non-members alike. The site 
is being continually updated and expanded, 
with usage increasing daily. 
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Finally ... 
In these more difficult economic times, the 

Chmnber's work in support of members and the 
broader Hong Kong business community 
becomes more important than ever. In the year 
ahead, I urge you all to play a more active role 
in Chamber activities and to bring your 
problems and suggestions for future Chmnber 
work to the attention of the Chamber executive. 
During my year as Chairman, I personally 
pledged myself to encouraging greater two­
way communication between Chamber 
members, especially those in special purpose 
committees, and the General Corrmuttee and 
Executive. There is a way to go yet here but I 
believe that progress has been made. 

It is also true that the bigger and more 
representative the Chamber is, the better and 
more forcefully it can put forward the views 
of the business community to its various 
publics, including the Hong Kong SAR 
Administration. I therefore also urge you to 
encourage your business friends and 
colleagues to join the Chamber if their 
companies are not already members, and to 
play a more active role if they are already 
members. 

In closing, may I thank you for your 
continued support during what was a difficult 
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year for all of us in Hong Kong. I would also 
like to give special thanks to my deputy 
Chairman, Mr C. C. Tung, my two vice 
chairmen, Dr Lily Chiang and Mr Anthony 
Nightingale, the Chamber Director, Dr Eden 
Woon and the Chamber staff for their 
tremendous contribution during the year. 

Finally, I would like to pass on to all of 
you my very best wishes for better business 
conditions in the year ahead and for the long 
term prosperity of the Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region of the People's 
Republic of China. There seems little doubt 
that Hong Kong will have to work harder, 
become more productive and efficient, if it 
is going to maintain and enhance its place in 
the region and the world in the future. But 
Hong Kong is no stranger to hard work and 
to re-making itself to accommodate an ever­
changing world. In the coming years, I may 
be absent from the SAR, but you will always 
have my strongest support. 

Peter Sutch 
Chairman 

President Jiang Zemin visited the SAR for the 
First Anniversary of the return of Hong Kong 
sovereignty to China. 
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T 
he 1998 calendar year was a very 
difficult one for Hong Kong, and the 
Hong Kong General Chamber of 

Commerce also suffered from the economic 
ctisis. As you can see from the accounts in 
this report, the Chamber had the first deficit 
in  recent memory. This occurred because 
of a drop in income, even though we were 
watching our expenses and decreased our 
staff size. We are hoping that 1 999 will be a 
better year for Hong Kong and for the 
Chamber, and that, if there is any Chamber 
deficit, it will be a very small one. 

Thankfully, your Chamber has a strong 
reserve and i s  financially sound, sound 
enough to weather the storm. Although 
there was not good news on the financial 
front, I can say without reservation the 
Chamber improved its services to members 
in every way. Let me elaborate: 

Programmes - The  C h a mber  
continued its practice of mixing high-level, 
significant programmes--such as hosting 
our Chief Executive immediately after his 
October Policy Address or Singapore 
Deputy Prime Minister Lee Hsien Loong-­
with practical sessions helping members do 
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business. The latter included our numerous 
roundtables, training courses, workshops, 
the popular Franchise  Associat ion 
seminars,and our first-ever all-day China 
Business Update Conference--with Hong 
Kong, Mainland, and Taiwan attendees--in 
November. Each week, there were up to 
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five programs of one kind or another being 
run by the Chamber, and each month, we 
had at least one major subscription luncheon 
with 100-500 attendees. 

China - The Chamber in 1 998 eo­
sponsored several exhibitions and seminars 
with Chinese provinces or cities. We hosted 
one Chinese delegation per week on average, 
often creating opponunities for members to 
interact with our visitors. Through this effort, 
the Chamber in  1 998 was slowly being 
recognized by mainland officials and 
businessmen as an excellent bridge into 
Hong Kong and out to the world. Our 
Mainland Associate Membership was 
initiated for this very purpose. In June, the 
Chamber General Committee met for 75 
minutes with Premier Zhu Rongji, who told 
us that we were the on I y bu si ne ss 
organization from Hong Kong that he had 
met since becoming Premier. Our service 
arm, the Hong Kong Coalition of Service 
Industries, also increased its contacts with 
mainland officials interested in learning 
about the Hong Kong's service sector's 
experiences as they develop their own 
policies. We also signed sister-organization 
agreements with several ma in lan d  

-1� *JI\l:IJU1Uli8::h'iiiit'l{]If'F o :fi(fi'��ttl.t'tlfhl 
tr�ii)(JH®:Wr>lldtJ , f.ll.:R: �hil)(l'i'�·�.:Aft: 

��W& · M��m�*�•� o - � � 

* � ����w e h �� · •�t�= n �  

�•�awrn��mm · �� �m��� 

�am•��a · M�-����m�� 

• · ��#ffl� � �w�� - iffiW�fl� 

��m�sw �m� �*� o ���m� 

•w�*��• r � �•rnJ · M»*� 
nm•�**�� · •����M•M* 

�MWW�w�amm�mm o Milim-

m�� · ��«��waM ��fi� · •  

M7.f>.tm 1•1J\!t! 11::�rn.m:i'l� r�� M!i o 

ff iltl-* 1¥ 1/_Y fl ' * fi\t tE!!! 1:f �t Q 

* *·t if�11Uf:l�jt,'IJ*t¥!"R I ��J* A.± 

w���*��ffl� o ����*�·ft 

llfl1 • .R l¥ '1\M A -€>! H �.:m:; · L!WiiHii; A • ·rr t1 
@•�•� · - � H �• • wn&M�� 

ltlf �n>t iffi • 11t PI- I !h 1T fil! � J; ju ... -uiJi -J * 

A n� · * Q � -� EaA*hl� o *� 

�kifr!I!ffi!.1il1"f I Mff<J(1;(Q:w.J UKr.OMffi , 

V & M�� N * �a£•·�� · M�� 

��f o m� - ��� H M � �- ffl :;k $  

5tE�i�_LlJw*!t'HJ� · mi111X flHJ�¥i!:lnlHl;+ 

�·Hi ll� o I�Jf ili'i-llil.Hii'ili&l:iJ ft,iflH·H::rfrfo.\C: 



counterparts. In short, whether it is for 
resolving business problems or for seeking 
business oppmtunities, our China connection 
is a great asset to our members. 

Policy - Last year, the Chamber 
increased its visibility in  Hong Kong by 
arguing more openly on behalf of the 
business community. ln a society with more 
voices, the businessman's needs and 
interests must be presented to the media, to 
the people, to the politicians, as well as to 
the government. This is an effort that will 
see even more improvement in 1999. As 
for the SAR government itself, we continue 
to make our views known to everyone from 
the Chief Executive down. Our patient 
lobbying succeeded in February in having 
the profits tax lowered and the SAR 
government agreeing with the central 
government on a solution to the double­
taxation problem. We were also very active 
i n  m ak ing  c lear  that  the b u s i ness 
community is in favor of Hong Kong doing 
more on the environment. The Hong Kong 
Coalition of Service Industries organized a 
Tripartite Forum to debate the future of 
Hong Kong's service sector, and some of 
the results of that debate worked their way 
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into government thinking. And perhaps 
most important of all, we had a continuous 
dialogue with the government on issues of 
concern to SMEs in Hong Kong. 

Information - We unveiled our website 
(www.hkgcc.org.hk) at the AGM in April. and 
it allows worldwide access to our infonnation. 
Members, however. are able to enter areas 
screened by passwords. These areas contain 
trade leads and up to date trade infmmation. 
Members also have their companies listed in 
an online directory. available to be searched 
by anyone in the world. We are continually 
upgrading our website, putting in online 
registration for programmes and minutes for 
committee meetings. for example. Our trade 
enquiry service is now linked to a large extent 
with the lntemet and is expanding. GraduaUy, 
as Hong Kong embraces information 
technology, members will find the website 
more and more useful. Within our office. 
every staff member now has email. for better 
communication with members and with each 
other, and they do research on the Internet to 
help our members. 

Trade Documentation - Our  
Certificate of  Origin (CO) service has 
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expanded into electronic data interchange. 
Starting at the end of 1 998,  we began 
cooperating with Tradelink to provide 
computer assistance to customers filing 
RTEL and TRADEC. In 1999, we will have 
this service available in all our offices. 
Many SMEs are helped by our service. as 
the government i s  moving towards 
paperless trade documentat ion and 
computerizing these applications. The 
Chamber supports wholeheartedly this 
effort by Hong Kong to streamline its trade 
procedures. and our service al lows 
companies to bridge the technology gap in 
the next few years. 

So, as you can see. 1998 was a busy year 
for the Chamber. More is being worked on 
in 1999 of course, in order to serve you 
better. We always are grateful for your 
support. For more details on what each 
Chamber division accomplished in 1998. 
please consult the divisional reports. 

Eden Y. Woon 
Director 
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US President Bill Clinton ended his China visit in the SAR. Here, he shares 
a toast with Chief Executive, Tung Chee Hwa. The Chamber Mission to Dubai and Bahrain. 
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The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

DIVISIONAL REPORTS 

INTRODUCTION 

T
he continuing East Asian financial 
crisis had a belated but quite severe 
impact on local economic and 

business conditions during 1998. As a result, 
the Chamber moved rapidly to adapt to the 
new climate. Across all divisions, services 
to members were enhanced, costs were cut 
back and new measures were introduced to 
enhance productivity and efficiency in the 
C h a m b e r .  T h r o u g h o u t  t h e  y e ar, 
improvements were made and new initiatives 
undertaken to ensure the Chamber could 
fulfill its mission statement : To promote, 
represent and safeguard the interests of the 
Hong Kong business community. 

The Chamber's Head Office in United 
Centre was expanded and renovated to offer 
better facilities to members, including larger 
c o n f e r e n c e  a n d  c o m m i t t e e  room 
arrangements, a new library with associated 
computer equipment and expanded office 
space. Computer systems were upgraded 
at both Head Office and Certification 
Offices and the Chamber's Interactive 
Website introduced. 

The International Business Division 
expanded its activities, as did the Business 
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Policy Division and the Economics and 
Legislative Affairs D i v is i o n .  The 
Operations Division ensured the Chamber 
ran smoothly and offered additional services 
to members. The Certification Division 
again produced an outstanding result given 
the weaker economic and trade conditions, 
and also introduced new services and more 
efficient practices for Certificate of Origin 
(CO) clients. 

Further details of Divisional activities 
are outlined below. 

I N T E R N A T I O N A L  B U S I N E S S  
DIVISION 

The International Business Division is 
responsible for developing and promoting 
global business connections and the 
provision of services to Chamber 
members interested in establishing 
business contacts on the Mainland. It is 
responsible for collecting the views of 
members on business and trade issues and 
making these views known to the relevant 
authorities. It organizes outgoing missions 
and hosts meetings for incoming 
delegations and visitors from abroad. It 
also provides secretarial support to trade 
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area committees and other special interest 
committees of the Chamber. 

International Service 

The 1998 calendar year was a busy and 
productive one for the International 
Business Division. The year saw the 
establishment of a new department known 
as the "International Business Information 
S e r v i c e "  a n d  an i n c r e a s e  i n  t h e  
responsibilities and knowledge base of its 
staff. As a result, the Division was able to 
provide a better service to Chamber 
members and prospecti v e  members 
requiring business contacts, advice and 
information on international business. The 
department, in close co-operation with the 
Information Technology Department, 
handled on average about 50 trade inquiries 
on-line every day and processed a large 
number of business information inquiries 
from Chamber members and overseas 
companies. 

Programmes 

O n  t h e  recommendation of t h e  
Chamber's trade area committees, the 
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Division continued to organize outgoing 
missions for members to explore business 
and investment opportunities i n  new 
markets. The Division also hosted some 
250 meetings with foreign delegations and 
visitors. These proved to be a useful and 
timely occasions for Chamber members to 
meet and network with their potential 
business partners. 

In addition, the Division organized 
roundtable discussions and luncheons 
at which experts addressed business 
i s sues  of i n terest  and concern to 
members. Views expressed at these 
meetings were communicated to local 
and overseas authorities as appropriate. 
I s s u e s  d i s c u s s e d  i n c l u d e d  t h e  
introduction o f  the "Euro" a s  a new 
currency in Europe and its implications 
for H o n g  Kong ,  lobby ing  for t h e  
continuation o f  Normal Trade Relations 
(formerly MFN) with the US for China, 
the European Union's anti-dumping 
m e asures aga ins t  Hong Kong and 
Chinese products, and the conclusion 
o f  a b i l a t e r a l  d o u b l e  t a x a t i o n  
agreement between China and Hong 
Kong following the lobbying effort by 
the Chamber in recent years. 
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The Mainland 

During the year, the Division continued 
to upgrade and improve its China services 
for members. These included the provision 
of mdimentary advice to members on doing 
business in China, dissemination of China­
related infom1ation (such as details of major 
trade and investment fairs held in China) 
through the Chamber Homepage, and the 
monitoring of Mainland-related issues 
affecting Hong Kong's economy. 

The Division organized several study and 
business delegations to the Mainland 
including a China Committee delegation and 
a high level General Committee delegation. 
They visited Beijing in January and June 
respectively. The General Committee 
delegation, including for the second time 
chairmen of some foreign Chambers of 
Commerce in Hong Kong, met Premier Zhu 
Rongji and other top Chinese officials. 

The Division also arranged group visits 
to several Mainland cities including 
Xiamen, Dalian, Chengdu, Guangzhou, 
Shenzhen and other locations in the Pearl 
River Delta with the objective of studying 
the business and investment conditions in 
these areas. 
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In November, the Division organized a 
"China Business Update Conference" with 
speakers from Hong Kong, Mainland 
China, Taiwan and the US. It was arranged 
in conjunction with a Taiwan - Hong Kong 
conference. The Conference, the first of 
its kind conducted by the Chamber, was 
undertaken to provide members and the 
business community in Hong Kong with 
first class business advice to help meet the 
economic challenges ahead. The 200 
attendees at the Conference also came from 
Hong Kong, Mainland China, and Taiwan. 

Outgoing Missions 

Mainland missions apart, the Chamber 
also sent delegations to many other 
countiies. Among these, the most important 
was a high level delegation to Dubai and 
Bahrain led by the Chamber Chairman, Mr 
Peter Sutch. The delegation was successful 
in pursuing its objectives of establishing 
high level contacts and to exploring 
business opportunities. The delegation met 
with senior government officials including 
the Piime Minister of Bahrain, His Highness 
Shaikh Isa bin Sulrnan Khalifa and his 
Commerce Minister. 
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The Hong Kong �neral Chamber nf Commerce 

DIVISIONAL REPORTS 

Incoming Visitors 

The Chamber hosted speaking events 
for several State leaders during the year. 
including Mr Tony Blair, British Prime 
Minister; Mr Kim Dae-jung. President of 
the Republic of Korea; and Mr Lee Hsien 
L o o n g .  Deputy Pri me M i n i s ter of 
Singapore. 

The Division also received a large 
number of VfP delegations and visitors. 
Some of the distinguished visitors were UK 
MPs. Lord Skidelsky and Lord Rces-Mogg: 
Mr I van Rogers, Chief of Cabinet for Sir 
Leon Brittan; Gov�rnor John Kitzhaber, 
Oregon, USA; Ambassador Piergiorgio 
Mazzocchi. Permanent Representative of 
the European Commission to the OECD: 
and the VIP delegations from the National 
Committee on US-China Relations and 
from Kansai Keizai Doyukai (KOD) of 
Japan. 

VIP visitors from the Mainland included 
Mr An Min. Assistant Minister. Ministry 
of F o r e i g n  Trade a n d  E c o n o m i c  
Cooperation < MOFTEC): Mr Wang Hui. 
Director General. Department of Taiwan. 
Hong Kong and Macau, MOFfEC: Mr 
Shao Ning. Dir.ector General, Department 
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of Enterprises. State Economic and Trade 
Commission: Mr Yu Xiaosong, Chairman 
of the China Council for the Promotion of 
International Trade: and Mr Cao Degan. 
Vice Governor of Fujian Province. 

Hong Kong International (HKI) 

During the year, the Hong Kong 
International Committee elected Mr Brian 
Stevenson. a General Committee member. 
as its new Chairman, succeeding Mr Paul 
Cheng. With his extensive experience and 
connections worldwide. Mr Stevenson is an 
ideal person to lead this prestigious group 
in developing and directing business efforts 
to  p r o m o te H o n g  K o n g ' s  i m a g e  
internationally. This promotion i s  more 
i mportant  than ever  fo l l o w i n g  the 
Handover. as misconceptions about Hong 
Kong persist. The Committee met twice 
during the year to develop a work plan for 
the coming years and to discuss ways to 
strengthen i ts  co-operation with other 
business organizations locally and overseas. 

During the year. HKI and other trade 
associations again hosted a visit by a group 
of US Congressional Staffers as part of its 
education programme. The Staffers' visit 
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to Hong Kong and the Mainland enabled 
them to gain first hand knowledge of the 
political and economic situation in Hong 
Kong after 1997 and developments in the 
southern China region. 

H o n g  K o n g  - T a i p e i  B u s i n ess 
Cooperation Committee (HKTBCC) 

Chamber Vice  Chairman, Or L i ly 
Chiang, was elected new Chairman of the 
HKTBCC. With her extensive knowledge 
and expertise i n  developing business 
connections with Taiwan, the HKTBCC 
was able to expand its work during the year. 
The most important events organized for 
HKTBCC and Chamber members were the 
"Hong Kong - Taipei Business Update 
Conference'' and the 9th Joint Meeting held 
on 3 November between HKTBCC and its 
counterpart, the Chinese Taipei - Hong 
Kong Business Cooperation Committee 
(CTHKBCC). 

Some 40 prominent business leaders 
from Taiwan attended the events. Dr 
Chiang Chen. Chairman of Chen Hsong 
Holdings Ltd and Mr Linin Day, Director 
of Bank of Overseas Chinese were the 
keynote speakers at the Conference entitled 
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" C h i n a ,  Hong  Kong and Taiwan:  
Challenges and Opportunities amid the 
Current Asian Economic Crisis". After the 
Conference, three concurrent working 
groups were held and a Memorandum of 
Co-operation was signed to pledge further 
co-operation between the two Committees. 

Pacific Basin Economic Council 
(PBEC) 

The two major events organized by the 
PBEC Hong Kong Committee during the 
year were the participation of Hong Kong 
representat ives  at the 3 1 s t  annual  
International General Meeting (I  GM) held 
in Santiago, Chile from May 22 to 27 and 
their attendance at the PBEC Mid-Term 
Meeting in Los Angeles from October 16  
to 18. 

At the PBEC Hong Kong Committee 
Annual General Committee (AGM) held in 
April, Mr John Strickland, was elected 
Chairman, succeeding Dr Helmut Sohmen 
who was elected at the Chile IGM as the 
International Chairman of PBEC. In J 997 
Hong Kong was awarded the privilege of 
hosting the 32nd IGM in Hong Kong from 
May 14 to 19, 1999. A Steering Committee 

chaired by Mr Strickland and an Organizing 
Committee under the chairmanship of Mr 
Douglas Fergusson were set up to oversee 
the organization of the Hong Kong IGM. 
The Organizing Committee met frequently 
during the year to review organizational 
progress. 

Apart from its networking role, the 
PBEC Hong Kong Committee continued to 
provide input to the activities of PBEC and 
its Working Committees in identifying and 
addressing emerging business issues such as 
administrative barriers to trade, business 
development, electronic commerce, 
environment, food products, foreign direct 
investment, services, technology and 
transparency. 

BUSINESS POLICY DIVISION 

The Business Policy Division, with a 
staff of eight, is responsible for 
formulating, in consultation with the 
Chamber's membership, views on 
policies (including government policies) 
affecting the business community of 
Hong Kong.  I t  h a s  part icular  
responsibility for issues relating to small 
a n d  m e d i u m  e n t e r p r i s e s ,  t h e  

Prominent speakers at Chamber functions 
during the year, included: British Prime 
Minister, Tony Blair (top left), Singapore Deputy 
Prime Minister, lee Hsieng loong (top centre), 
MOFTEC Assistant Minister, An Min (top right, 
right), with Chamber Director, Eden Woon, SAR 
Chief Executive, Tung Chee Hwa (bottom left) 
and SAR Financial Secretary, Donald Tsang 
Yam-kuen (bottom right). 
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environment, industry and technology, 
service industries and franchising. 

Chamber Business Policy 

The Business Policy Division contributed 
to a wide range of business policy issues 
during the 1 998 calendar year. Some 
examples include financing for small and 
medium enterprises, freezing of government 
fees and charges, WTO negotiations on 
financial services and telecommunications, 
infonnation technology and television policy, 
legislation on corporate rescue, proposal for 
a "second board" on the Stock Exchange, 
housing policy in light of the economic 
downturn, developing relevant government 
statistics, the Third Comprehensive Transp01t 
Study and rebuilding the image ofHong Kong 
as a tourist destination. 

Whilst continuing to be substantially 
pol icy-or iented,  the D i v i s ion  a lso 
endeavoured to  focus more on practical 
issues relevant to the needs of businesses. 
In this connection, a number of events were 
organized in 1998, including a Seminar on 
"The Property Market: What Lies Ahead" 
in February, a seminar on "Using the New 
Airport" in May, and a series of Round table 
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luncheons focusing on different subjects. 
These included presentations on the West 
Rail project, how to develop innovative 
product and service ideas, tracking the clues 
that lead to change, effective software 
management, and software piracy. 

Both the Chamber and its service industry 
arm the HKCSI joined the Intellectual 
Property Department to launch a "No-Fakes 
Campaign" in November. Retailer members 
who participated in this campaign pledged not 
to sell fake products through a "No Fakes 
Pledge" for display at their outlets. 

Industry, Environment and SME 

Small and Medium Enterprises 

T h e  Chamber  S M E  C o m m i t tee  
undertook a wide range of  activities during 
the year. They extended from providing 
input to Government on SME-related issues 
to regular events such as training workshops 
and lunchtime briefings. Significant 
projects undertaken during the year 
included the annual Spring Dinner which, 
despite the slowing economy attracted close 
to 600 participants, the re-launch of the 
SME Newsletter, and a survey on bank 

- - � J M � · · � & - ¥ � � � � ­

FI� 1]' � 9=- ft -®t o � m- 1]' @ Lf ft � � �7g 
W · ��·· · � � M � S��wna 

I f£ · �Q {iiJ !1!{ � �IJ �: • � J& � � & n� 
• · •� z m · ����•••# · �  

lU�. Jtl JliJ\ {!f � iiliUH! o 

+-� · ··-�·-····�­

¥��-�--�- r�ti��-�J o 

•w�m��•�m� M m m *mM r �  

ti��J �� · � * � � � W�* · �� 

W %'fiX fJ 1U'It o 

£F p;j  • ••11s{J I'j:l!J,�it:��wb'ttt 

#.M.WIM¥.ZtJl:Jf, • {9rJ�nloJi&JffiliU!ill4iti! · 

�-l'j:l�mit:S�m ; �Mm�I��& 

��oom���Mrn��� · m�m�� 

�-�-��-� - --<��-{t:-� 

ffi> · � &�MMB � ft �- N � o -· 

t-1!! ffH� i£ · f§ � � OHJ: 15 f!� uzg I T t!Hrr 
GOOA-� o �� bt�����m�g· 

��-ftMM� · ··� · ��*��� 

A:l: 1£ � � :7cF�*illi(Jf.Jh:lt:UJL.ill • 9H .q=: 

charges. The Committee also successfully 
applied for a grant from Government's 
Services Support Fund to conduct a survey 
on the ingredients required for Hong Kong 
businesses to thrive in  their Mainland 
dealings. As part of a venture that will 
extend into early 1999, the Committee is 
collaborating with  the Hong Kong 
Productivity Council on the first SME 
Award, with winners being presented with 
their trophies in February 1999. 

The Committee also helped achieved 
lower operating costs for i ts  smaller 
members. This took the form of lobbying, 
which succeeded i n  persuading the 
Administration and the Trade Development 
Council to freeze fees and charges for the 
year. In addition, the Committee contributed 
views on the shaping of the Special Finance 
Scheme for SMEs prior to its implementation 
in  August and in the review process that 
Government was conducting at year's end. 

Environment 

During 1998, the environment became 
an even more important agenda item for the 
Chamber. Among other things,  the 
Environment Committee made closer 
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liaison with environmental authorities in 
South China a priority. To promote bilateral 
exchanges and understanding on issues of 
common interest, a seminar on environment 
and energy matters was scheduled for 
March 1 999. In planning for this, the 
Committee sent a small delegation of 
members to Guangzhou in October to meet 
with relevant Chinese agencies. 

To provide different perspectives on 
environmental issues, the Committee 
invited speakers to its regular meetings. 
Members were briefed by representatives 
from government, green groups, sectoral 
bodies, and commercial organizations on a 
range of subjects including the Trade 
Effluent Surcharge Scheme, aircraft noise, 
and greenhouse gases. 

Industry and Technology Committee 

Originally the "Industrial Affairs 
Committee", the Committee underwent a 
change of name during the year to better 
reflect the wider interest of members and 
to address the changing nature of industry. 
The extension of the Committee's brief to 
cover technological issues is in line with 
the Chief Executive's stated mission to 
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i ncrease Hong Kong's  compet1t 1ve 
advantage by capitalising on new ideas and 
technologies. Corrunittee Chairman, Dr Lily 
Chiang, mapped out a strategy to pursue this 
objective. The Corrunittee will also provide 
input to the Chief Executive's Commission 
on Innovation and Technology i n  the 
preparation of its second report. 

T h e  C o m m i t t e e  i s  e ngaged i n  
organizing events of interest for members 
and in 1998 these included a visit to the 
Chinese University and operations at Lee 
Kum Kee, and a roundtable luncheon on 
Israel's experience i n  c l imbing the 
technology ladder. A subscription luncheon 
was held in December at which Prof. Tien 
C h a n g - l i n ,  C h a i r m a n  o f  t h e  CE's  
C o m m i s s i o n  on I n n o v a t i o n  a n d  
Technology, spoke on developing the SAR 
as a high-technology hub. 

Hong Kong Coalition of Service 
Industries 

After discussions in July, the Chamber's 
service-sector ann, the Hong Kong Coalition 
of Service Industries (HKCSI), decided to 
redefine its mission statement to more clearly 
reflect its role. The new mission statement 
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The First SAR Legislative Council Elections were 
held on May 24. 
§���li$*m$�5 � 24 s •rr o  

reads :  T o  promote t h e  cont inuing  
development and competitiveness of Hong 
Kong's service industries. 

Representation 

Members of the HKCSI Executive 
Committee were actively involved i n  
government committees, either i n  their 
personal capacity or as representatives of 
the HKCSI. Some examples include the 
Services Promotion Strategy Group, 
Government Small and Medium Enterprise 
Committee, Personal Data (Privacy) 
Advisory Committee, Statistics Advisory 
Board, Services Support Fund Vetting 
Committee and Users and Consumers 
Advisory Committee of the Office of 
Telecommunications Authority (OFTA). 

Some twenty position papers were 
submitted to government by the HKCSI in 
1998.  They included comments on the 
APEC E a r l y  V o l u n t a r y  S e c to r a l  
Liberalisation programme, a submission to 
the Chief Executive's Commission on 
Innovation and Technology, a submission 
on (un)employment, comments on the 
review of district organizations, comments 
o n  t h e  c o n s u l t at i o n  e x e r c i s e  o n  
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interconnection and competition in the 
electricity supply sector, a response to the 
consul t a t i o n  paper on u n s o l i c i t e d  
advertisements sent b y  facsimile and a 
submission to the Secretary for Financial 
Services on the Mandatory Provident Fund. 

Promotion of Service s 

The 1998 Hong Kong A wards for 
Services were launched on April I with 101 
entries being received for the five award 
categories. Winners were selected by the 
Central Judging Panel chaired by the 
Financial Secretary who also presented the 
trophies at the Awards Gala Dinner on 
November 24. As well as acting as the 
secretariat for the Awards, the HKCSI was 
the leading organizer for the Innovation 
category. 

To promote an exchange of views among 
the business, government and academic 
sectors, the HKCSI organized a "Tripartite 
Forum" on the policy agenda for promotion 
of services in January, jointly with the 
government B u s i n ess and S e rvices 
Promotion Unit and the Hong Kong 
University. About 100 senior officials, 
businessmen and academics took part in the 
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d i scussion in four panel sessions on 
liberalisation, information revolution, human 
resources and quality and productivity. The 
HKCSI continued to publish the "Servicing 
Economy" Newsletter to provide a fonnn for 
exchange of views on key issues related to 
the service sector. Four issues were 
published in 1 998 on the themes of tourism, 
telecommunications, trade-related services 
and professional services. 

A particular sector which the HKCSI 
helped develop in 1998 was the management 
consultancy field. An academic team from 
Hong Kong University led by Professor 
Michael Enright was appointed to conduct a 
study on promotion of management 
consultancy. After completion of the study 
in August, an action plan was formulated. It 
was decided that a Management Consultants 
Association should be formed to take 
forward the promotion of Hong Kong's 
management consultancy sector. 

Mainland's Se rvice Sector 

On June 10 a ten-member delegation led 
by HKCSI Chairman Mr Stanley Ko visited 
the State Development and Planning 
Commission and met Mr Bao Xuding, Vice 
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Chairman of the SDPC. The delegation also 
met with the State Economic and Trade 
Commission, MOFTEC and the Internal 
Trade Bureau. 

To strengthen cooperation between 
Hong Kong and the city of Beijing, the 
Chamber and the HKCSI assisted in the 
organization of the Beijing/Hong Kong 
Economic Cooperation Symposium held in 
Hong Kong in October. The Mainland 
organizers included seven bodies led by the 
Beijing Municipal Foreign Economic and 
Trade Commission. 

In November a training seminar in  
Nanjing on "Development of  the Tertiary 
Industries" was organized jointly by the 
HKCSI and the State Development and 
Planning Commission. More than 1 20 
participants from all provinces and 
municipalities of Mainland China took part 
in the seminar. The HKCSI provided five 
speakers for the week-long event. which 
concentrated on distribution industries like 
retail, wholesale, chain stores and logistics. 

International coope ration 

The Secretary General of the HKCST 
attended a conference in April convened by 
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the USCSI in Ditchley Park. Oxfordshire 
to prepare for the next round of negotiations 
on services under the World Trade 
Organization (WTO), which is  to begin in 
the year 2000. The Conference concluded 
with a statement on the main issues for the 
Year 2000 negotiations. 

Participants also agreed to establish a 
"Global Services Network" as a virtual 
organization linking the CSls. HKCSI 
representatives also attended the 13th 
Conference of Coalitions of Service 
Industries in Santiago, Chile in September. 
In preparat ion for the year  2000 
negotiations, the HKCST commissioned 
CITYU Consultants to undertake a study 
on "Opportunities from liberalisation of 
trade in services - the private sector's 
interest". or "Services 2000" in short. 

Hong Kong Franchise Association 
(HKFA) 

Promoting franchising in Hong Kong 
and Mainland China 

The year was a challenging one for the 
Hong Kong Franchise Association, a 
Chamber committee dedicated to promoting 
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franchising. Through ongoing efforts and 
a series of new initiatives. the Association 
enhanced its profile considerably with 
government and the community at large. 

A number of projects under the 
"Franchise Development Programme" 
funded by the government Services Support 
Fund were completed during the year. 
These included a seminar on What is  
Franchisable? i n  January, a conference on 
Franc h i s i n g  i n  C h i n a :  P o l i c y  & 
Development in June and a series of training 
courses from February to J u I y. A set of 
b i l i ngual books and a CD-ROM on 
franchise training were also published. 

The HKFA was represented in the 
Franch i se  China 98 Conference and 
Exhibition held in Shanghai in October. 
Through this and other efforts in promoting 
co-operation between Hong Kong and the 
Mainland, the Association has strengthened 
its relationship with the China Chain and 
Franchise Association and the Guangdong 
Chain Operation Association. 

International efforts 

O n  the i n ternat ional  fron t ,  the 
Association has become an internationally 
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recognized body in the franchising field. 
The HKFA was a founding member of the 
Asia Pacific Franchise Confederation 
inaugurated in September. The HKFA also 
gave a presentation at the Malaysia 
Franchise Exhibition and Conference in the 
same month. 

During the year, the Association 
received delegations and conducted 
briefings for v i s i t ing m i s s ions and 
businessmen from the Mainland, Australia, 
Bulgar ia ,  S i ngapore and the USA.  
Association staff also handled about 2,300 
local and overseas enquiries. 

ECONOMIC AND LEGISLATIVE 
AFFAIRS DIVISION 

The Chamber's smallest division, the 
Economic and Legislative Affairs 
Division, is responsible for economic and 
business research and monitoring Hong 
Kong legislative activity. It operates 
through three committees, the Economic 
Policy Committee, Taxation and Legal, 
and one sub-committee, the China Tax 
Group. The Division also currently 
produces The Bulletin magazine and 
other Chamber publications. 
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Greater Activity 

Demand for the Division's services 
increased substantially during the year as 
economic condit ions worsened and 
Government policy-making and legislative 
activity picked up after the May 24 election 
for the First SAR Legislative Council. On 
the election front, the Divis ion took 
responsibility for explaining to members the 
conduct of the elect ion,  espec ia l ly  
nomination. registration and vot ing 
procedures i n  the Chamber's Commercial 
(First) Functional Constituency. The 
Division was effective and efficient in its 
role in disseminating election information 
to members. 

As the year progressed and the impact 
of the East Asian financial crisis on the 
Hong Kong SAR became more severe, 
demand from members for up-to-date 
f inancia l  and bus i ness  i nformat ion 
increased. There was also a substantial 
increase in demand from local and foreign 
analysts, business delegations and the 
media. The Chief Economist, who heads 
the Division. made some 52 presentations 
on the economic outlook outside the 
Chamber, continued to have his views 
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The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

DIVISIONAL REPORTS 

published widely and also made many 
presentations to visitors to the Chamber. 

In the Legal and Taxation fields, levels 
of activity were somewhat more subdued 
because of the interruption to legislative 
activity occasioned by the May 24 elections 
and Government pre-occupation with its 
responses to the worsening economic 
climate. Nevertheless, several submissions 
were made to the Government during the 
year on issues of corporate law and taxation. 
Activity in both fields is expected to pick­
up significantly in the 1999 calendar year, 
a s  Government policy-making and 
legislative activity expand. 

Submissions and lobbying 

The Division once again drafted many 
of the Chamber's major submissions to 
Government on substantive policy issues 
and maintained the Chamber's ongoing 
lobbying efforts on behalf of the business 
community. In late 1 997, the Chamber's 
submission on the Budget for the 1 998-99 
fiscal year was delivered to Government. 
Many of the recommendations contained in 
it were taken up in the Budget delivered in 
mid-February 1998 (including profits tax 
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cuts, the freezing of fees and charges and 
the like). Towards the end of the year, the 
Chamber delivered its Budget submissions 
for the 1 999-2000 fiscal year, with many 
of its recommendations aimed at alleviating 
the impact of a weaker general economy 
on the business community. 

Also towards year's end, the Division 
drafted the Chairman's annual letter to the 
Chief Executive ahead of his Policy 
Address to the Legislative Council in 
October. Again, many of the initiatives 
suggested by the Chamber were evident in 
the subsequent Policy Address. The 
D i vi si o n  also played a key role i n  
formulating drafting and delivering to 
Chamber members the wage and salaries 
reconunendation for the 1999 calendar year. 
Other submissions made during the year 
included such issues as the winding up 
provisions of the Companies Ordinance, the 
proposals for a "second market" on the 
Stock Exchange and the restructuring of the 
Municipal Councils. 

Publications and Research 

The Division continued to arrange 
publication of the Chamber's magazine, The 
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Bulletin, during the year, although new 
anangements for this publication will be put 
in place in early 1 999. It continued to 
publish on a monthly basis the economic 
commentaries "One Country" (covering the 
Mainland economy) and ''Two Systems" 
(on the SAR economic situation). The 
Division also played a prominent role in 
collating and publishing the Chamber's 
Annual Report to members. 

Original economic research during the 
year was limited, mainly because of the 
other demands on the Division due to the 
economic downturn. The Division did, 
however, complete a paper on Hong Kong 
- Mainland trade, which concentrated 
specifically on the growth of direct 
shipment and transhipment of goods from 
the Mainland and their impact on the SAR. 
It also published a paper on the structural 
changes affecting the local tourism industry 
and what these might mean for the future 
development of the industry. 

Committee Activities 

With the onset of the economic slow 
down, the Economic Policy Committee, 
under Mr Martin Barrow, was the Division's 
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busiest committee, meeting regularly to 
discuss various aspects of the SAR's 
economic performance. It played a key role 
i n  formulating the Chamber's economic 
pol ic ies  during t h e  y e ar ,  w i t h  i t s  
contributions t o  the Budget submission and 
Policy Address recommendations being 
particularly valuable. The Committee spent 
a great deal of t ime studying trade 
developments during the year and met with 
the port authorities and others to discuss, the 
issues involved. During the year, the 
Committee also re-launched its initiative 
aimed at collecting examples of Government 
red tape and bureaucracy hindering business 
progress. These have already been submitted 
to the Government for consideration. 

The Division's Taxation Committee 
under Mr Roderic Sage and its sub-group, 
the China Tax Group, was less active during 
the year, a reflection of the levels of activity 
concerning tax issues. The Taxation 
Committee did, however, play a substantial 
role in the Chamber's Budget submission 
and the China Tax Group in advocating the 
double taxation arrangement between the 
S A R  and M a i n l an d  tax authori ties .  
Likewise, the Legal Committee, under Mr 
Tim Gallie, was slightly less active in  
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previous years, due mainly to the limited 
l e g i s l a t i o n  b e i n g  p u t  forward by 
Government. It  did, however, consider 
many important issues during the year 
including reciprocal enforcement of 
judgements, the extra-territorial aspects of 
US law, arbitration, the w inding up 
provisions of the Companies Ordinance and 
others. 

Business  Summit a n d  Busines s  
Prospects Survey 

The Chamber's a n n u al Bus iness 
Summit was again the Division's biggest 
event of the year and has rapidly become a 
"must attend" event for many in the local 
business community. The latest Summit 
was no exception , being opened by the 
Financial Secretary, The Hon Donald Tsang 
Yam-kuen, and closed by the well-known 
international economist, Dr Kenneth 
Courtis, of Deutsche Bank Asia in Tokyo. 
The General Committee's question and 
answer panel session on business issues 
affecting the SAR was again a highlight of 
the Summit as was another panel session 
on the banking and financial systems in the 
SAR and on the Mainland. 
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The 1998 Business Summit programme 
was further enhanced by the presentation 
to the Summit  of the results of the 
Chamber's first ever Business Prospects 
Survey. This survey polled a11 4,000 plus 
corporate members of the Chamber on their 
views for the outlook of the local economy, 
their own businesses, the performance of 
Government and other issues critical to the 
SAR's future development. It gained a good 
reception from members w i th 5 5 1  
completed questionnaires being returned, a 
statistically sound 13.8 per cent response 
rate. The results of the survey were well 
received by members, analysts, the media 
and the general public. It is hoped the 
Business Prospects Survey will become a 
regular feature of the Business Summit 
programme. 

CERTIFICATION DIVISION 

The Certification Division provides 
Certificate of Origin and other trade 
documentation services to members and 
non-members alike. It operates nine 
offices throughout the Hong Kong SAR 
to ensure easy access to its services by 
clients. 
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The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

DIVISIONAL REPORTS 

Satisfactory Result 

The 1998 calendar year was again a 
busy one for Certificate of Origin (CO) 
issues. During the year, the Chamber 
issued 260,4 1 6  Certificates of Origin, a 
drop of 1 8  per cent compared w i th 
previous year. This was mainly due to 
t h e  e c o n o m i c  d o w n t u r n  a n d  t h e  
Government's  act ion t o  l ift the CO 
requirement for export of restrained 
textiles to the U.S.A.  with effect from 
August 1 8 . Staff members aimed to 
provide an efficient certification service 
throughout the year. The electronic CO 
printing service was further enhanced and 
about 52 per cent of all COs received are 
now printed by the Chamber. 

The Chamber's smart card payment 
system has been well received as a 
substitute for cumbersome cash payment, 
and by the end of the year, over 480 smart 
cards were issued. More than 22 per cent 
of all CO transactions were conducted 
through the smart card payment system. 
CO processing time, including the time 
required for the CO correction process, has 
been further reduced. As a result, the 
Chamber now provides a prompt half-day 
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service in all its nine certification branch 
offices which are strategically located in 
Hong Kong, Kowloon and the New 
Territories. 

Certification Co-ordination 

Certification policy and issues are 
mainly dealt with by the Certification Co­
ordination Committee on which the 
Chamber is represented by Mr. W. S. Chan, 
Assistant Director, Certification Division. 
Four meetings of the Committee were held 
during the year. Major policy matters 
discussed included EDI CO and the lifting 
of the CO requirement for export of textiles 
to the U.S.A. 

Investigation 

To u p h o l d  t h e  i n te g r i t y  o f  the 
certification system, more than 5,798 
cons ignment  checks on cert if icate 
applications were made during the year. 
As a result, 196 applications were refused 
and 1 4  applications were referred to the 
Trade Investigation Bureau of the Customs 
and E x c i s e  Department for further 
investigation. 
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ATA Carnet 

The Chamber is the sole approved body 
in Hong Kong for the issue of AT A carnets 
permitting trade samples, exhibition goods 
and professional equipment to be taken 
across national frontiers without payment 
of duty. During the year, 2.270 carnets were 
issued, covering goods worth $ 1 .R4 7 
million. Some 287 disputes arising out of 
the functioning of the carnet system were 
settled. Of these disputes. 2 1  cases resulted 
in payment of customs duties. 

Service Centres 

In co-operation with Tradel i n k  
Electronic Commerce Ltd, the Chamber 
extended its certification services to cover 
the electronic lodgment of restrained textiles 
licences (RTEL) with effect from June I and 
impmt and export trade declarations (TDEC) 
with effect from November 2. To publicise 
these new services, the Ce1tification Division 
organized 30 seminars w i th a good 
attendance of over 2,050 traders. By the end 
of the year, more than 2.973 RTEL 
applications and 5,502 TDEC had been 
processed electronically. 

,I�� fjf 'fl •L' fi� I �9H �F 2 FJ l¥.ilti/J ' l�( IJ'l 
Jt rr ·l.·f!l:�:hJiU1 'ffi'illi�l�tH�'fN' ·l.· · � 
mi 1-ft · lil .fit�� & H! m �tLl: �ru:n�t o 

m=@ r � m � � *M�M� J M­

J=J . fi o •��m��-��m , M� rr  

fJ)Y.�JJ��lBU!\ ; 90'�*I�iffi{±:.tM f..\.J,'ilt�·,: f 
200 fll!! l&��jJf)L • {f Jlii J((I{J II'�Wi iAJ · Jtlf& 
;; I ( Ui�� Al5\illiJ:hl·•rSt o 1' fwr�@fi·J& 
R�� A�m m � k ± �Wft*��M� 
f.ibt 0 

'1o lj,l • � i1li for IJ� f� ·U Jlf{ i� nl t!U� T 
·H> � fflll 7f(Jtl!. J.H � I>�tt: � ;� & I�F ,H �  · Ill 

ffti A. � r! 1 :i o :¥. :HJ 0 ;f ��; o Jlt �� · �H� iiJ 
1F*M��M� · M�Am&*���� 

m� o ��m�B hm•�• ���-� 

:f.lf 0 

� 0 � M � � ( Ift R � > & S � �  

� g fl� l& ifrft.fJI\ 



OPERATIONS DIVISION 

The Operations Division has 24 staff 
and is responsible for the smooth running 
of all Chamber operations. It has t'our 
line functions: Membership, Information 
Technology, Human Resources and 
Administration and Finances. 

Membership 

Despite the economic downturn. the 
Division was able to sustain membership 
numbers in 1998 through new initiatives in 
recruitment and retention. By year-end, 
membership stood at 4,03 1 ,  not much less 
than the 1997 level. In addition, the 
Chamber's Overseas Associate Membership 
and Mainland Associate Membership 
categories enabled it  to reach out the 
international business community more 
effectively. During the year, the Chamber 
also introduced the special category of CO 
membership for those only using Certificate 
of Origin services. Other than members' 
referrals and targeted invitations. Chamber 
staff were able to attract 141 new members 
during the year through their own contacts. 

On the membership relations side, the 
Division ran several programmes during the 
year, including the race boxes at Happy 
Valley and Shatin, the Discount Club, the 
Golf Club and the 3288 Dinner Club. They 
again proved very popular with members. 
The Division produced the 428-page 
Membership Directory 1 998/99 which 
c o ntains useful busi ness and trade 
information on all members. An interactive 
version of the Directory is also avai !able on 
the Chamber Website which is updated daily. 

Information Technology 

The Head Office computer system was 
completely upgraded early in the year and 
all staff are now internet and intranet 
capable. The Chamber Website was 
launched in A p r i l  and is now the 
information hub of the Chamber. Members 
can access useful business information and 
make product inquiries, wrule the public can 
browse the site to find out what is happening 
in the Chamber. 

Over time, the Chamber Website will 
become the most important "interface" 
between the Chamber and its members. 
More exciting developments of the Website 
will be announced throughout 1999. Other 
IT -driven improvements in operations 
included the upgrading of the Chamber's 
multi-fax system and the re-designing of the 

membership database system. Both were 
aimed at improving the effectiveness of 
communication with members and the 
Chamber management. 

Human Resources 

The number of Chamber s taff was 
reduced from 138 to 130 by year-end. Staff 
were also supportive of the need to enhance 
productivity and restrain benefits. During 
t h e  year,  the  Director  i ni tiated a 
Performance Planning and Appraisal 
System to allow more objective assessment 
of staff. A bi-monthly staff newsletter was 
also published to enhance staff relations. 

Under the auspices o f  the Human 
Resources Committee. 49 training courses 
with 456 participants and three roundtables 
with 97 participants were organized during 
the year. The Division also conducted a 
member survey on job vacancies and 
training needs, and a seminar on recent 
changes in labour legislation. 

Apart from Chamber duties .  the 
Division was involved in a wide range of 
community services. These included a 
blood donation campaign for the Hong 
Kong Reel Cross. the Good Citizens A wards 
for the Police Force, a donation campaign 
for Mainland flood victims, the dress casual 
day for the Community Chest, trail walking 
for Oxfam and employment campaigns for 
t h e  e l der ly ,  t h e  disabled  and t h e  
unemployed for the Labour Department and 
the Employees Retraining Board. 

Administration & Finances 

Chamber finances had a difficult year 
as a result of the impact of the East Asian 
financial crisis on the local economy and 
levels of business activity. Because of the 
decline in exports and the harsher business 
environment, Chamber income was reduced 
more quickly than expenditure could be, 
resulting in a deficit of about $3.2 million. 
The overall surplus for the year was, 
therefore, reduced. However, a Chamber­
owned property was disposed off early in 
the year resulting in an exceptional gain of 
$7.8 million. A quarter of the Chamber's 
Head Office space was also leased to a sister 
organization and has generated a steady 
source of income. 

In August, about 3,000 square feet of 
the Head Office was renovated to create a 
multi-functional conference facility which 
can hold up to 120 people in theater-seating, 
or be partitioned into two smaller seminar 
rooms. There is also a library, two meeting 

21 

rooms and some additional office space to 
integrate staff formerly located in other 
premises. Members and visitors have 
commented favourably on the new 
facilities. Many now use the new library to 
read, work and browse the internet. all free 
of charge. 

Apart  from t h e  day-in-day-out  
administration of  Chamber operations. the 
Operations Division organised 12 training 
courses and seven roundtables to enhance 
members' administrative skills. 

CHAMBER SERVICES LIMITED 

The company is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of t h e  Chamber.  It 
concentrates on developing services and 
providing commercial opportunities for 
the business community of Hong Kong. 
During the year under review, the 
company had three main operations. 

Chamber Business Centre 

The Centre in Kowloon Bay was closed 
in February 1998. This was mainly due to 
the  low occupancy and i n adequate 
utilisation of the Hong Kong International 
Trade and Exhibition Centre in which it was 
located, coupled with an inconvenient 
location. 

Exhibition/Conferences/Seminars 

The second "Hong Kong Products & 
Services Exhibition • Shopping Expo '98" 
was held in January. Despite the economic 
downturn. it was a successful event with 90 
exhibitors and 200 exhibition stands, 
attracting over 70,000 visitors for the four­
day show. The Chamber was honoured to 
have Mrs. Betty Tung, the wife of the Chief 
Executive of HKSAR. to officiate at the 
opening. 

During the year, Chamber Services also 
organized and managed some forty local and 
international seminars and conferences with 
attendances ranging from fifty to five 
hundred delegates. Other event management 
projects for roadshows, award presentations 
and gala dinners were also undertaken. The 
company's role as a professional conference 
organizer is to be further expanded. 

Bulletin Advertising Sales 

The c o m pany a lso  acted  as an 
advertising agent for The Bulletin, the 
Chamber's monthly magazine and the 
Chamber Website. 



Th� Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

HONG KONG PROGRESS 

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE 

Gross Domestic Product (GDPJ · Expenditure Based 

GDP · Current Prices 
· Change (%) 

GDP · Constant (1 990) Prices 
· Change (%) 

GDP Components (change %) 
· Private Consumption 
· Government Consumption 
· Investment 
· Merchandise Exports 
· Merchandise Imports 
- Services Exports 
· Services Imports 

EXTERNAL TRADE 

Merchandise Trade 

Hong Kong Merchandise Trade IHKD billioll) 

Trade Type 
Total Imports (c.iJ.) 
Total Exports (f.o.b.) 

- Domestic Exports (f.o.b.) 
- Re-exports (f.o.b.) 

Total Trade 
Trade Balance 

• a s %  of Imports 

Hong Kong Services Trade ( HKD bil!ion) 

Trade Type 

Exports of Services 
Imports of Services 
Services Balance 

1998 
1,289.1 

-4.1 

788.6 
-5.1 

-6.6 
+0.9 
-5.8 
-4.3 
-7.2 

-6.6 
-0.6 

1998 
1 ,429.1 

U47.6 
188.5 

1 . 1 59.2 

2,776.7 
-81.4 

5.7 

1998 
264.7 

175.9 
+88.8 

1997 
1.344.1 

+12.8 

831.3 
+5.3 

+6.7 
+2.4 

+15.6 
+6.1 

+7.2 
-1.1 
+3.6 

1997 
1.615.1 
1,455.9 

211.4 
1.244.5 
3,071.0 
-159.1 

9.9 

1997 
295.6 
179.7 

+11 5.9 

Domestic Merchandise Exports : Major i\"larkets (HKD billion) 

Country 1998 1997 
The Mainland 56.1 63.9 
USA 54.8 55.1 
UK 10.1 10.7 
Germany 
Taiwan 
APEC Countries 
European Union 

9.8 
6.5 

143.5 
352 

Merchandise Re-exports : Major Market1 I HKD billion) 

10.3 
7.0 

163.6 
36.7 

Country 1998 1997 
The Mainland 407.4 443.9 

USA 259.9 261.4 
Japan 
UK 
Germany 
APEC Countries 
European Union 

64.2 
42.3 
42.2 

880.4 
176.5 

Merchandise Imports · Major Markets 1 HKD billion) 

Country 1998 
The Mainland 580.6 
Japan 
USA 
Taiwan 
South Korea 
APEC Countries 
European Union 

Domestic Exports by Commodity Group 
(HKD bill) 
Apparel and clothing 
Eleclronic componenls 
Tcxlilc fabrics 
Watches and clocks 

179.9 
106.5 
104.1 
68.8 

1,216.3 
151.9 

1998 
74.9 
23.6 

9.7 
8.9 

77.7 
39.1 
46.3 

958.1 
177.6 

1997 
608.4 
221.6 
125.4 
124.5 

73.2 
1,362.6 

177.8 

1997 
72.2 
26.9 
11.5 
10.8 

1996 
1,191.9 

+10.7 

789.8 

+4.5 

+4.7 
+4.0 

+10.8 

+4.8 
+4.3 
+9.7 
+4.9 

Change 
-1 86.0 
-1083 

-22.9 
-85J 

·294.3 
+77.7 

Change 
-30.9 

-3.8 
-27.1 

Change 
-7.8 
-0.3 

-0.6 
-0.5 
-0.5 

-20.1 
.J.S 

Change 
-36,5 

-1.5 
13.5 
+3.2 
-4.1 

-77.7 

-1.1 

Change 
-27.8 

-41.7 
-18.9 
-20.4 

-4.4 
·146.3 

-25.9 

1996 
69.5 
25.4 

12.2 
11.9 

1995 
1077.2 

+6.6 

755.8 

+3.9 

+ 1 .6 
+3.2 

+10.7 

+12.0 
+13.8 

+4.8 
+2.1 

% 
- 1 1 . 5  

-7.4 
-10,9 

-6.9 
-9.6 

+48.8 

% 
-10.5 
·2.1 

-23.4 

% 
-12.2 

·0.6 
-5.6 
-4.9 
-7.2 

-12.3 
-4.1 

% 
-8.2 
-0.6 

-17.4 
+8.2 
-8.9 
-8.1 
-0.6 

% 
-4.6 

-18.8 
·15.1 
·16.4 

-6.0 

-10.7 
·14.6 

1995 
73.8 

29.7 

12.6 
13.6 
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GDP per capita (HKD) 
· Current Prices 
· Change (%) 
· Constant (1990) Prices 
- Change(%) 

Inflation and Wages 
Inflation (change %) 

- GDP Deflator 
- Composite CPI 
- CPI(A) 
- CPI(B) 
- Hang Seng CPJ 

Real Wages (change %) 
All occupations 
Managers (A) 

Imports by end use (HKD bill) 
Foodstuffs 
Consumer goods 
Fuels 
Raw materials and semi-manufactures 
Capital goods 

Re-exports by Commodity Group 
Clothing 
Footwear 
Radios. television sets. etc. 
Thcrmionic tmnsistors, clc. 
Electrical machinery 
Plastic materials 
Office machines 
Watches 
Woven fabrics of man-made r,bres 
Iron and Steel 

Services Trade 

Exports or Senires 
Total (HKD bill) 

Transportation 
Tmvel 
Insurance 
Financial 
Trade-related 
Other Business 

Imports or Senices 
Total iHKD bill) 

Transportalion 
Travel 
Insurance 
Financial 
Trade-related 
O!hcr Business 

Services Trade Balance 

192.776 
-6.7 

I 17,932 
-7.8 

1998 

+1. 1  

+2.8 
+2.6 
+2.8 
+3.2 

+2.3 

+5.2 

1998 
64.6 

5 1 1 . 3  
234 

483.5 
346.4 

1998 
96.8 

51.9 
52.6 
43.2 
42.9 
34.1 
36.8 
23.5 
18.3 
17.1 

1997 
295.6 
102.8 
72.1 

2.3 
18.8 
75.5 
24.1 

1997 
179.7 
39.2 
98.2 

3.0 
6.9 

13.6 
18.9 

206,719 
+9.5 

127.854 

+2.2 

1997 

+7.2 

+5.8 
+5.7 
+5.8 

+6.1 

+6.0 
+7.8 

1997 
72.9 

586.9 
29.9 

562.4 
362.9 

1997 
106.7 
65.6 

58.7 

48A 
40.1 
37.7 
34.2 
23.6 
2.1.1 
19.2 

1996 
296.2 
100.6 
84.5 

2.8 
19.0 
68.3 
20.9 

1996 
170.9 

39.9 
88.7 

3.2 
6.3 

13.9 
19.1  

+115.9 +125.3 

188,859 

+7.9 
125,139 

+1.9 

1996 

+5.9 
+6.3 

+6.0 
+6A 
+6.6 

+6.1 

+7.9 

1996 
65.2 

572.9 
32.5 

540.9 
323.9 

1996 
100.5 

65.2 
61.8 
42.5 
36.6 
36.3 
30.4 
2.1.0 
22.9 
20.2 

1995 
265.6 

96.4 
74.9 

3.7 

16.3 

54.3 

20.0 

1995 
160.9 

38.3 
81.2 

4.7 
6.1 

12.4 
18.2 

+104.8 

EXTERNAL TRADE 
(annual change, per cent) 
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174.972 
+4.5 

122.77K 
+1.9 

1995 

+2.5 
+9.1 
+8.7 
+9.2 
+9.6 

+9.1 
+10.7 

1995 
61.2 

562.4 
26.6 

543.1 
297.9 

1995 
90.9 
60.2 
68.4 
41.1  
32.2 
37.6 
20.1 

20.9 
230 
17.2 

1994 
240.7 

90.4 
64.3 

3.5 
18.1 
46.9 
17.5 

1994 
144.1 
".3 
66.8 

5 . 1  
6.6 

10.3 
18.1 

+96.6 

5 
0 

-5 1988 1989 1990 199t 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 l�"\i'l98 
' 

-10 



Gross Domestic Product (GDP) • Produrtiou Based 

Sector 1998 
Agriculture and Fishing 
Industry 

- Mining and Quarrying 
· Manufacturing 
- Utilities 
- Construction 

Services 
- Wholesale, Retail. etc 
· Transport, Storage, ctc 
- Finance. Insurance, etc 
- Community Servkcs 
- Ownership of Premises 
- Financial lntermedlation 

Establishmeuts 

Sector 

Mining and Quarrying 
Manufacturjng 
Electricity and Gas 
Construction Sites 
Wholesale, Retail. etc 

(I) Re1um o[Sm-ereignry to China 

N.A. 
N.A. 
N.A. 
N.A. 
N.A. 
N.A. 
N.A. 
N.A. 
N.A. 
N.A. 
N.A. 
N.A. 
N.A. 

1998 

23.631 
22 

1,082 
172.279 

(2) Joillf Dedaration signed between China and Britain 

Money a11d Banking 

Banking 
(year end} 

No of licensed hanks (operating) 
No of restricted licensed banks 
No of DTCs !operating) 
Money Supply M! !HKD billion) 
Money Supply M2 (HKD billion) 
Money Supply M3 (HKD billion) 
Total hank deposits (HKD billion) 
Total loans & advances iHKD billion) 

- to finance HK's visible trade 
· to finance merchandising trade 

not touching HK 
- other loans for use in Hong Kong 
- other loans for use outside HK 

Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate 

Exchange Rate Index (Oct. '83 = 100) 
Tr•de Weighted (Import & Export) 
Import Weighted 
Export Weighted 

Electricity Consumption (Terajoule) 

Industrial 
Commercial 
Domestic 
Total 

Motor Vehicle Registrations (No's) 

Total licensed 
· new rc.gistrators 

Private ca" 
· new rcgistralors 

Tourism 

Incoming Visitors (No.) 
Visitor Spending (HKD million) 
Occupancy Rate - Hotel (Average) 

1998 
172 
60 

10! 
197.7 

3,067.9 
3.124.1 
2.955.0 
3.306.0 

133.0 
16.5 

1.958.5 
1,170.1 

9.00 

1)2.3 
124.7 
140.7 

1998 
18.489 
73,857 
32.793 

127.643 

1998 
500,673 

49.387 
318.317 

33.487 

1998 
9.754.711 

55,251 
769� 

1997'11 

0.1 
14.7 

(4) 
6.5 
2.3 
5.8 

85.2 
26.1 

9.3 
26.5 
17.4 
13.0 
-7,2 

199711' 

5 
25.724 

25 
1.105 

173,360 

1984"' 

0.5 
32.2 

0.1 
24.3 

2.4 
5.4 

67.3 
23.1 

7.8 
15.6 
15.4 
10.2 
-4.9 

1984'" 

10 
48,038 

3 
1.046 

9�.012 

1980"' 
0.8 

31.7 
0.2 

23.7 
l.3 
6.6 

67.5 
21.4 

7.4 
23.0 
12.1 

8,9 
-5.4 

198o<J• 
21 

45,409 
4 

1.212 
68,055 

Employmeut (000')'" 

Sector 

Manufacturing 
Finance, Business Services. etc 
Wholesale, Retail and Trade 
Restaurants and Hotels 
Building and Construction 
Community Services 
Civil Service 
Total L;tbour Force 

- Employed 
- U nemploycd 

Unemployment Rate (%I 
Underemployment Rate (%) 
Labour Force Participation (%) 

Sector 
Transport, Storage. Communications 
Finance and Business Services 
Community Services 
Total 

1998 
257 
398 
741 
206 

76 
324 
188 

3,380 
3,200 

179 
5.0 
2.7 

62.1 

1998 
9.080 

45,733 
24.991 

276,825 

ECONOMIC STRUCTURE 

1997"' 

309 
416 
806 
221 

78 
314 
184 

3.192 
3,122 

70 
2.2 
1.0 

61.3 

1997"' 
9,551 

47,583 
25,882 

283,235 

1984"' 
905 
168 
381 
175 

68 
202 
172 

2.644 
2.542 

102 
3.9 
3.5 

66.2 

1984''' 
3,481 

14,757 
19,040 

180.387 

19801'' 
892 
127 
314 
m 
90 

N.A. 
m 

2,371 
2,269 

102 
4.3 
3.K 

63.8 

1980"' 
2.578 

10,171 
14.5�3 

1�1.993 

(3} Before impacJ v[Chi11a's "Open Door Policy" 

(4} l.ess Jhnll 0.05% 

1997 
180 
66 

115 
208.1 

2,744.6 
2.827.0 
2.599.3 
4,121.7 

172.3 
20.7 

2,040.9 
1,839.9 

9.50 

IJ6.4 
130.1 
143.5 

1997 
18.965 
67,849 
28,934 

1 1 8,088 

1997 
500,228 

62,807 
314,833 

43.054 

1997 
10,406,261 

69,946 
76% 

1996 
182 
62 

124 
190.5 

2,266. 1 
2,347.2 
2.433.3 
3.913.3 

165.3 
19.9 

1,635.3 
2.052. I 

8.50 

125.0 
1 16.0 
135.2 

1996 
19,934 
64,465 
29.194 

115.790 

1996 
475, 1 1 5  

37,469 
293,381 

22,203 

1996 
11,702.735 

82.462 
88'7, 

1995 
183 
63 

132 
190.0 

2,283.0 
2,364.0 
2,226.0 
3.738.0 

155.7 
17.7 

1,398.0 
2.128 2 

8.75 

124.0 
113.6 
135.8 

1995 
20.222 
59.908 
27,063 

112,817 

1995 
466.068 

38.520 
285.467 

23.257 

1995 
10.1 99,994 

72,939 
85'1 

23 

Stock Exchange 

Indices 
(yeareud) 

Hang Seng Index (July '64 = 100) 
- Finance 
- Utilities 
· Properties 
- Commerce and Industry 
Hang Seng China Enterprises Index 
(Julv '94 = /,(}()()J 
Monthly average turnover (HKD billion) 

1998 
10.048 58 
13,915.86 
I 1.4�1.96 
14.214.44 

5.791J6 
398.28 

141.8 

1997 
10.722.80 
14,158.10 
12,283.40 
14.839.10 

6.482.50 
722.90 

315.8 

FINANCE 

1996 
13.451.50 
13.808.90 

9.892.30 
26.376.40 

9,972.90 
980.60 

117.6 

1995 
IO.OBJ9 
9.846.98 

10,003.65 
17.572.23 
7.549.98 

757.12 

68.9 

Go,trnment Revenue & Expenditure (HKD bil/io11) 

Year Revenue 
I 14.7 
135.3 
166.6 
175.0 
180.1 
208.4 
275.2 
212.8 
205.1 

Expenditure Surplus/(Deficit) 

1991-92 
1992 .93 
1993 -94 
1994 .95 
1995 -96 
1996 -97 
1997 - 9 8  
1998-99 
1999 -00 (Budget) 

Telephone Lines - No or working lines ('000) 
Residential 
Business 
Fax 
Total 
Pagers 
Mobile 

Building Commencemenls ('000 sq. m) 
Residential 
Commercial 
Industrial 
Total 

Retail Sales 

Value (HKD billion) 

1998 
2.154 
1.544 

358 
3.698 

600 
2,762 

1998 
1,300 

290 
160 

2,000 

1998 
195.0 

92.2 22.5 
113.3 22.0 
147.3 19.3 
164.2 10.8 
183.2 -3.1 
182.7 25.7 
194.4 80.8 
245.1 -32.3 
241.6 -36.5 

OTHER INDICATORS 

1997 
2,089 
1,508 

343 
3.624 

932 
2,085 

1997 
1.631 

500 
462 

2,951 

1997 
234.9 

1996 
2,028 
1.374 

308 
3.402 
1,089 
1,210 

1996 
1.009 

999 
530 

2,914 

1996 
223.9 

1995 
1,966 
1.288 

272 
3.252 
1.323 

688 

1995 
688 
670 
457 

1,974 

1995 
210.6 



The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 

As at 31" December 1998 (expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE 
MEMBERS OF THE HONG KONG 
GENERAL CHAMBER OF 
COMMERCE ("THE CHAMBER") 
( lncmJWrated in Hemp, Konx and limited by xuarantee J 

We have audited the accounts on pages 24 to 31 which 
have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. 

Respective responsibilities of the General 

Committee and auditors 

The Companies Ordinance requires the General 
Committee to prepare accounts which give a true and 
fair view. In preparing accounts which give a true 
and fair view i t  is  fundamental that appropriate 
accounting policies are selected and applied 
consistently. that judgements and estimates are made 
which are prudent and reasonable and that the reasons 

ft� E���������*M*M·��ft 
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for any significant departure from applicable 
accounting standards are stated. 
lt is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, 
based on our audit, on those accounts and to report 
our opinion to you. 

Basis of opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements 
of Auditing Standards issued by the Hong Kong Society 
of Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a 
test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and 
disdosures in the account�. lt also includes an assessment 
of the significant estimates and judgemems made by the 
General Committee in the preparation of the accounts, 
and of whether the accounting policies arc appropriate to 
the Chamber's and the group's circumstances. consistently 
upplied and adequately disclosed. 
We planned and petformed our audit so as to obtain all 
the information and explanations which we considered 

�-Jlili�Jl.(Jg{tc� 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

necessary in order to provide us with suflicient evidence 
to give reasonable assurance as to whether the accounts 
are free from material misstatement. In forming our 
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the 
presentation of information in the accounts. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion. the accounts give a true and fair view, 
in all material respects. of the state of affairs of the 
Chamber and of the group as at 3 1  December 1998 
and of the group's surplus and cash flows for the year 
then ended and have been properly prepared in 
acwnlance wilh the Companies Ordinance. 

. l 
KPMG-

Signed KPMG 
Certified Public Accountants. HK 22 March 1999 

1tdli 1�· r.� � JJ.& ft�i .k': � J} m w r · fl�t 1'-:r :�.IJl trH<( 
lr� • 

ffift��ff.Q · 3 � � � �u•��ms•rr 

/i2 1 �1'lll '.¥12 H :l l  U ll ltl1tli0ic.A91!tfi5Miti5t& 

#.tf �Ii.lHl Jl± 11, J.l!' 11� Ml. tJ; & m .t: ;;t.. � • il.fz i!ll �\\ 
0 If] fi}.{Ytl ' � �� tliil � • 

I 

KPMG-

ljJ,,J,ij�ffllfJljji'J��m 
ii'�fJL�fr,'jj�lji 

If: 1998 fF 1:! !1 :if R ll:.ii/ll/f,.f;;'f!T! As at 31'' December 1998 (expressed in Ho11g Kong dollars) 
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Fixed assets 

Unlisted investment 

Marketable securities managed 
by imestmeut manager 

Staff housing loans 

Current assets 
Accounts with investment manager 
Debtors and prepayments 
Cash at bank and in hand 

Current liabilities 
Creditors and accruals 
Subscriptions received in advance 
Taxation 

24 

Note 
� tt  

3(a) 

5 

6 

7 

9(b) 

1998 
$'000 

1 50.767 

43.239 

6.000 

5.427 
8.126 
9.645 

23. 198 
223,204 

I 1 .778 
1 2.600 

3 6 1  

24.739 

198.465 

1997 
$'000 

1 56,076 

33.573 

li.OOO 

3.461 
7 .309 

16, 130 

26,900 
222,549 

1 4,285 
13,645 

357 

28.287 

1 94,262 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (continued) 

General fund 

Peter Sutch Chairman 

Note 
llf.l tt  

C C Tung Deputy Chairman 

Eden Woon Director 

Price Waterhouse Treasurers 
(Certilied Public Accountants) 

The noles on page� 27 tn J I furm part of these at::coums. 

BALANCE SHEET 
As 111 3/" December /998 (expre.ut-'d in Hon�J Ko!If: dollars) 

Fixed assets 

Investment in subsidiary 

Unlisted investment 

Marketable sccuritie.� managed 
b�· investment manager 

StalT housing loans 

Cun·ent assets 

Accounts with investment manager 
Debtors and prepayments 
Cash at bank and in hand 

Current liabilities 

Creditors and accruals 
Subscriptions received in advance 
Taxation 

General fund 

Apprm•e tll>y 1lle Genl?ral Couuniller 011 22""' Afarcll 1999 

Peter Sutch Chairman 

Note 
Jll1 tt 

3(b) 

4 

5 

6 

7 

9(b) 

C C Tung Deputy Chairman 

Eden Woon Dirct:tor 

Price Waterhouse Treasurers 
<Certified Public Accountants) 

The notes on page!'- �7 Lo :ll form part of tht:--.;� accounb.. 

25 

1998 
$'000 

1 '}8.465 

1998 
$'000 

1 50.63H 

766 

43.239 

6.000 

5.427 

8.037 

9.060 

22.524 
223.167 

I 1.43 I 

1 2.600 
361 

24.392 

1 '}8.775 

1'}8.775 

1997 
$'000 

1 94.262 

1997 
$'000 

155,H�l9 

33.573 

6.000 

3.461 

6. 1 47 
1 4.4S9 

24.097 

220.444 

12.1 8 1 

1 3.644 
357 

26,182 

1 94.262 

194.262 
---



The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 

As at 31" December 1998 (expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 
for the year ended 31 December 1998 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

Note 
llf.t tt  

Income 
Members' subscriptions 
Fees 10 
Interest and dividends 1 1  

Surplus on disposal of marketable securities 
Publications and promotion 1 2  

Rental income 
Exchange difference 

Expenditure 
Staff 1 3  

Office 1 4  

Services 1 5  

Depreciation 1 6  

Subscriptions and donations 1 7 

Operating (deficit)/surplus before exceptional items 

Exceptional items 2 

Surplus from ordinary activities before taxation 

Taxation 9(a) 

Surplus after taxation 1. 8  

General fund brought forward 

General fund carried forward 

The notes on pages 27 to 31 form part of these accounts. 

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
for the year ended 31 December 1998 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

Net cash (outnow)/inflow from operating activities 

Returns on investments and servicing of finance 
Interest and dividends received 

Net cash inflow from returns on investments 
and servicing of finance 

Taxation 
Profits tax paid 

Investing activities 
Purchase of fixed assets 
Purchase of marketable securities 
Sale of leasehold property 
Sale of other fixed assets 
Sale of marketable securities 

Net cash outflow from investing activities 

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 

26 

Note 
Hl tt  

(a) 

1998 
$'000 

1 5 , 1 29 

37,463 
2,729 

92 
1 ,61 1 

2,877 
(255) 

59,646 

43.832 

8,006 
3,839 

7,060 
144 

62,881 

(3 ,235) 

7,875 

4,640 

437 

4,203 
194,262 

198,465 

1998 
$'000 

__ (�"�?-�� 

(3,764) 

(23,428) 

9,884 

3 
13.854 

(6,485) 

16,130 

1997 
$'000 

15.770 
-H .9X9 

3.582 
3.342 
3. 1 36 
1 ,647 

1-B 

69.609 

42.0\15 
9.76X 
2.896 
6.793 

86 

6 1 .638 

7.97 1 

77.25\1 

X5.2JO 

453 

'M.777 

109.4X5 

1 94.262 

1997 
$'000 

7.522 

3.653 

3.653 

( 1 1 9) 

(\13,679) 
(36.066) 

77.259 
1 0  

42.461 

( 1 (1.0 1 5 ) 

1 .04 1 

1 5.0!!9 

16. 1 30 
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NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
for the year ended 31 December 1998 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

(a) Reconciliation of surplus from ordinary activities before taxation to net cash (outnow)/inflow 
from operating activities 

Surplus from ordinary activities before taxation 
Surplus on sale of leasehold property 
Interest and dividends received 
Deficit on disposal of fixed assets 
Surplus on disposal of marketable securities 
Depreciation on fixed assets 
Write-off of fixed assets 
Increase in staff housing loans 
(Increase)/decrease in accounts with investment manager 
Increase in debtors and prepayments 
(Decrease )/increase in creditors and accruals 

(Decrease)/increase in subscriptions received in advance 

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

1 Significant accounting policies 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

1998 I<J<J7 

$'000 $'000 
4,640 l-:5.230 

(7,875) (77,25!) ) 

(2,729) n.si\2J 
98 72 

(92) n.3-+2J 
6,962 5.S.fti 

X75 

(6.000) 
(I ,966) 1.707 

(8 1 7) (60()) 
(2,507) U\67 

( 1 ,045) 2.70X 

(5,33 1 )  7.522 

The consolidated accounts include the accounts of the Chamber and its subsidiary made up to 3 1  
December 1998. All material intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. 

(b) Investment in subsidiary 
Investment in subsidiary is stated at cost less any provision for permanent diminution in value as 
determined by the General Committee. 

(c) Income recognition 
Income is recognised when earned and is accounted for on an accrual basis. 

(d) Fixed assets 
Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
Leasehold land is depreciated over the remaining periods of the respective leases. 
Buildings are depreciated over a period of forty years from the date of acquisition. 
Computer system is depreciated on a straight line basis over the estimated economic life of the system 
of three years starting from the time the economic benefits begin to accrue. 
Other fixed assets are depreciated at the following annual rates on a straight line basis: 
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 10% to 20% 
Motor vehicle 20% 

(e) Unlisted investment 
Unlisted investment is stated at cost less any provision for permanent diminution in value as determined 
by the General Committee. 

(j) Marketable securities managed by investment manager 
Marketable securities are stated at the lower of cost and market value on a portfolio basis. 

(g) Operating leases 
Rentals receivable and payable under operating leases are credited and charged to the income and 
expenditure account over the applicable periods of the respective leases. 

(h) Related parties 
For the purposes of these accounts, parties are considered to be related to the Chamber if the Chamber 
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in 
making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Chamber and the party are subject 
to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or entities, 

(i) Translation of foreign currencies 
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange 
rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the market exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. 
Exchange gains and losses are dealt with in the income and expenditure account. 
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The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 
A' at 31'' December 1998 (expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

tl!HI IIH�£ dm NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (conlinued) 

2. �·�'*ll'i n 2 Exceptional items 
1998 1997 

$'000 $'000 

ttta: t'lffl tifu t:J�r!lW' M�.� Surplus on sale of leasehold property 7.'11,75 77,259 

3. lil1li:ft� 3 Fixed assets 
fcwHnn Jll: '('ifil 1'( f.t!t ' � i\tJ( '..0:/JiH',tift {f/f!· 

�.1) 11 �}� '{i.. &'fi#:L� 
'k-:,(ltf{lj 

(a) IJ�{; (a) Consolidated Leasehold Furniture. 

properties Leasehold fittings 
helu for investment anu oftlce Motor Computer 

own use property equipment vehicle ;ystem Total 
$'()()() S'()(lO S'OIHl $'(K)() $'000 S'OOO 

jlf(i Cost: 
li(· l 'J�I!l it' I Jl l 11 At I January 199X 63.494 91.639 13.5H9 479 7.441 1 76,642 

if, ?'t Additions 2.5 1 2 1.252 3.764 
IB  1�� Disposals i2.5R2J (6) i2.5XS) 
liltUJ'i Write-off (241)) 1240) 

ffln Tran;fer (6,6X4J 6.6�4 

li'� I 111111 lj·: I Z FJ :ll U At 3 1  December 199X 54.22X 9x .. m 15,X55 479 XM3 1 77.57X 

!ti!Jif/f Aggregate depreciation: 
IJ� I <J<JP. If' I Ji I 1 1  At I January 199X S.li 1 2  4�X S.I5X 175 3.123 20.566 
1Jor:J.J jlfflf Charge tilr the year 1 ,037 1 .523 1 .69:1 96 2.61 2 6.%2 
4' r-'l tfl 11Hfff<il Written back on dipsosals (572) (3) (575) 
�r*JJM!Wlffl•;l Written back on write-off 1 142) ( 142) 
+lift Transfer (6!\7) 6!\7 

11: I !l'IH lf' 1 1  fl :ll U At 31 December 199X l\.390 2.70X 9.707 271 5,735 26.!\ 1 1 

111amillfll Net book value: 
fi�· I ���IH '!' 12 JJ : l l  n At 3 1  December 199S 45.X3S 95.615 6.1�X 20X 2.1J5X 1 50.767 --- ---

li�' 1!1'17 � 12 JJ :ll fl At J I December 1997 5HX2 9 1 . 1 4 1  5,431 304 4.3 1 �  156.076 --- ---

(b) J!!Wfr (b) 11ze Chamber 

}!;[fli Cost: 
fi� l'J'JH 'F I ll I 1 1  A t  I January I 99X 63.494 9 1 .639 U.2XO 479 7.441 1 76,333 

if '1'1: Additions 2.507 1 .252 3.759 
tJ • fl< l U  Dispo,als (2.5lQ) (6) (2.58!\) 

liti'lf!i Write-off (240) (240) 
fttm Tram.fcr (6,6!\4) 6.6X� 

fi� I'I'IH lfc 1 2  JJ :ll A At J I December 1998 54.22X 9XJ23 15.541 479' X.693 1 77.264 

J!!/Jifff Aggregate depreciation: 
li(· I'I'IH 1JO I H I  H At I January 199X 8 ,61 2 49X X,036 1 75 3.123 20.444 
'H'-IJITPJ Charge for I he year 1 .037 1 .523 1.631 % 2.6 1 2 6)(1)9 
tf. ll-1 tll Pi 1H JiiJ Wrilten back on dipsos<lis (572) (3) (575) 

iJ' IAilil« ll/Hf.iliiJ Written back on write-off 1142) ( 142) 

*i!ft Transfer i6X7) 6X7 

fi� I 'J!IH lf. t2 H 31 ll At 3 1  December llJ98 X,390 2.70X 9,522 27 1 5.735 26.626 --- ---

1/klhii'fifti Net book value: 
h'\.' I 'l'IH ljc 1 2  fl 3 1  lJ At 31 December I 99!\ 45.838 95.6 1 5  6.019 20X 2.95X 150.63H 

fl: 1 !1!17 1JO 12 J-l :ll B At 3 I December 1997 54.XX2 9 1 . 1 4 1  5.244 30:1 4JIX 155.XS9 --- --- ---

(c) fJ mm J.UUl!Uft fi!IU!.J$; trfi'ia • �UJ. N:IU/ (c) The leaselzo/d properties held for own use and illl'estment property are situated in Hong Kong aud held under 

m#JJ'i:J.:/Ui • long leases. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 

4 Investment in subsidiary 

Unlisted shares. at cost 
Amount due from subsidiary 

Less: Provision 

� � ft � i-t «t :« 
!R 199H it' 1:2 J7 :if H U;.ijiJ:ifirMJ.].J 

1998 

$'000 

1 0  
5.368 

5.378 
(4, 6 1 2 )  

766 

1997 

$'000 

10 
5,487 

5,497 
(4.6 1 2 ) 

885 

The wholly owned subsidiary is Chamber Services Limited ("CSL"). incorporated in Hong Kong. 
whose principal activities during the year were the operation of a business centre and the provision of 
business related services. CSL ceased the operation of the business centre with effect from 1 5  February 
1998. 

5 Unlisted investment 

Shares in Tradelink Electronic Document Services Limited 

("Tradel ink"), at cost 
Provision against investment 

1998 

$'000 

5,875 
(5.X75) 

---

1997 

$'000 

5.875 
(5.875) 

---

The General Committee considers it prudent to provide fully against the investment in Tradelink. 

6 Marketable securities managed by investment manager 

At cost 
Listed investments 
- Hong Kong 
- Overseas 

Unlisted investments 

Market value 

Listed investments 
- Hong Kong 
- Overseas 

Unlisted investments 

1998 

$'000 

4.456 
22.474 

26,930 
6309 

43.239 
---

4,706 
26,023 

30,729 
1 6.682 

47.4 1 1  

Unlisted investments comprise bonds and other marketable instruments. 

7 Staff housing loans 

1997 

$'000 

6.8 1 3  
13,554 

20.367 
1 3.206 

33.573 

7.31 7 
1 4. 1 42 

2 1 .459 
1 3,277 

34,736 
---

The s taff housing loans are secured. interest free until 3 1  December 2001 and at 5% per annum thereafter. 
The amounts are repayable upon the staff members' resignation or retirement or on the sale of the 
property. whichever occur.; earlier. 

8 Accounts with investment manager 

These comprise cash balances in interest-bearing current accounts and fixed deposits together with 
accrued interest and dividend receivable on marketable securities, managed by the investment manager 

as follows: 

Current accounts 

Accrued interest and dividend receivable 

29 

1998 

$'000 

4,841 

586 

5.427 

1997 

$'000 

2,942 

5 1 9  

3.461 



The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 
As at 31'' December 1998 (expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

IIM E! Iltt.il: < t m  NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 

9. mm 9 Taxation 

(a) �{NH:Jit:ff.:/<.fJ.J/Y{f/I.JTll!lM : - (a) Taxation in the consolidated income and expenditure account represents: 
19911 1997 

mm•�������-"��· 1 � ��n Provision for Hong Kong profits tax at 16% ( 1 997: 16.5%) $'000 $'000 

wiJ!l:fiJl!HSI.t\�{/,1 1 1 997 if:� 16.5 %1 o n  the estimated assessable profit for the year 460 453 

i,t 1: -�.m !ii m rm t\1\ Hii Overprovision in respect of prior year � 
437 453 

---

�•eewa�•�A�*��-�-��" The Chamber is liable to profits tax on net surpluses earned other than those arising from subscriptions 
1!}� · and fee income. 

(b) l'i if fH/t:l<. PntUitJ!i 1!1. t� : - (b) Taxation in the balance sheets represents: 19911 1997 

$'000 $'000 

.-j�:-lfl:ft �ill:;fiJj!l�!VI{I,I Provision for Hong Kong profits tax for the year 460 453 

e Hfflill;f'l I� .m Provisional profits tax paid (222) (96) 

238 357 

1trltlll!! -i<"ff!l: .f!J l�:fll. 1\1l{t.i(lt.J�� Balance of profits tax provision relating ro prior years 123 

361 357 
---

10. iUtft 10 Fees 19911 1997 

$'000 $'000 

�OllW�iJJl:A Gross fee income 40.483 46.279 

@l!tifi'tl!i�Jf.f Reimbursement to Hong Kong Government (3.471) (4.290) 

Jtft!l Others 451 ---
37.463 4 1 ,989 

---

11.  f41PHI:f4 1 1  Interest and dividends 1998 1997 

$'000 $'000 

l:EMfi.;:;A:&QU !'t;i.::flJ.e. Interest on time deposits and staff loans 989 I .H56 

;f!J.�.&�I;ftl Interest and dividends 
J:lllilH� - listed investments 738 1 . 164 

�� J: m tJt rt - unlisted investments 1 .002 562 

2,729 3.582 
---

12. tllm&.m� 12 Publications and promotion 1998 1997 

q!;:A Income from $'000 $'000 

t±:l:& - publications 1.694 2.427 
�J"Jiijll.flf - sundry services 4,989 8 . 1 1 0 
�'it - exhibition 2.777 2. 9 1 3  
WM* - seminar 1,337 

10,797 13.-ISO 

1i:o'l:l Expenditure on 
o'l:ll:& - publications 1.367 1 .63� 

fl �} &. iM!IJi!lUUt - trade and programme promotion 4.625 6.207 

lbH'f&0:ttlllltil - advertising and public relations 1 1 7 1 23 

�·� - exhibition 2.590 2.350 
WM0 - seminar 487 

9,186 1 0.3 1 4 

iftql(A Net income 1,61 1 3 . 1 36 
---

13. a a 13 Staff 1998 1997 

$'000 $'000 

�� · {f:�HU&tllfl/i Salaries, bonus and allowances 36,127 35,057 

.a�ill{,f;�izflli� Contribution to staff retirement fund 4.134 3,579 

l!lX U lii 1/ill ii & fi IIIH'.Ufl Staff quarters rental and the related expenses 2.572 2.277 

�t�'f.(ffl Medical expenses 637 647 

r.�t f�H� ¥� r:fl U/i Passages and leave allowances 234 52 1 

flh�ll & Jt!Jil'J Training and recruiting 1 28 1 4  

43,832 42.095 
---

14. M!l'!Jk 14 Office 1998 1997 

$'000 $'000 

:m�-�� Rent and rates 3,088 4, 1 20 
1G;:l!( Light and power 265 2.:18 
miitiw Telephone 278 592 

fflljjlJ&:X:Jl Printing and stationery ----�!?!i.� 1 .334 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued) 

Office (continued) 
Postage 641 829 
Maintenance, repairs and cleaning 1.918 1 .973 
Books and newspapers 52 8 1 
Local travelling 148 170 
Motor car expenses 45 75 
Sundry expenses 308 346 

8,006 9,76H 

15 Services 1998 1997 

$'000 $'000 
Audit fees 224 234 
Treasurers' fees 900 600 
Legal and professional fees 157 320 
Computing fees 1 ,594 873 
Investment manager's fees 263 250 
Insurance 701 619 

3,839 2,896 

16 Depreciation 1998 1997 

$'000 $'000 
Depreciation on Fixed assets (note 3(a)) 6.962 5,846 

Deficit on disposal of fixed assets 98 72 
Write-off of fixed assets 875 

7,060 6,793 

17 Subscriptions and donations 1998 1997 

$'000 $'000 
Trade organisations' subscriptions 136 42 
Educational and economic research sponsorship 8 44 ---

144 86 
---

18 Surplus after taxation 
The surplus after taxation includes a surplus of $4.513.000 ( 1 997: $82,292,000) which has been dealt 
with in the accounts of the Chamber. 

19 Lease commitments 
At 3 1  December 1998. there were commitments under operating leases in respect of properties to 
make payments in the next year as follows: 

Leases expiring: 
Within one year 
After one year but within five years 

20 Contingent liabilities 

Consolidated and I he Chamber 
1998 1997 

$'000 $'000 

1 .955 
1.833 

3,788 

449 
4,347 

4,796 

At 3 1  December 1998, there were no material contingent liabilities. As at 3 1  December 1997 there 
were contingent liabilities in respect of a guarantee given to a bank by the Chamber in respect of 
banking facilities extended to Tradelink amounting to $2,260.000. 

21 Staff retirement scheme 
The Chamber operates a defined contribution staff retirement benefit scheme for all qualifying staff of 
the Chamber and its subsidiary. The assets of the scheme are held separately by an investment manager. 
Contributions applicable to each year are charged to the income and expenditure account for the year 
(note 13). 

22 Material related party transactions 
(a) During the year, the Chamber entered into a lease agreement for its investment properties with an 

association in which it has the only voting right at the association's general meetings. The lease term 
was for three years from I September 1998 onwards at an agreed rental of $ 1 89.750 with a rent-free 
period of five months at the commencement of the lease. 

(b) The Hong Kong Committee of the Pacific Basin Economic Council Limited ("the Association") is an 
association established by the Chamber and to which the Chamber provides certain support services 
free of charge. The Chamber has also issued a letter of support which was in force during the year for 
an unspecified amount to provide financial assistance as is necessary to maintain the Association as a 
going concern. 
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(Chairman) 
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HONG KONG COALITION OF 
SERVICE INDUSTRIES 

EXECUTIVE COMMIITEE 

Mr Stanley Ko (Chairman) 

Mr Anthony Griffiths 
(Vice Chairman) 

Mr K C Kwok 
(Vice Chairman) 

Mr Tony Au 
Ms Anita Bagaman 
Mr Mike Booth 
Mr Charles Nicholas Brooke 
Mr Marshall Byres 
Mr Alfred Chan 
Mr Garrnen Chan 
Mr John Chan 
DrW K Chan 
Mr Ian Christie 
Mr Douglas Gautier 
Mr Robert Kenny 
Mr Denis Wing Kwan Lee 
Dr Jane Lee 
Mr George Leung 
Mr Paul Lowndes 
Mr James Lu 
Mr Ross Malthews 
Dr Shamus C Y Mok 
Mr Richard Pyvis 
Mr David Ruan 
Prof Richard Wong 
Mr Roderick B Woo 
Dr Eden Woon 
Mr Yeung Kwok Keung 
The Hon Howard Young, JP 
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FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMIITEE 

Mr David Ruan (Chairman) 

INFORMATION SERVICES COMMITTEE 

Mr Tony Au (Chairman) 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES COMMIITEE 

Mr Anthony Griffiths (Chairman) 

REAL ESTATE SERVICES Cm!MITTEE 

Mr Charles Nicholas Brooke 
(Chairman) 

STATISTICS COMMIITEE 

Mr George Leung (Chairman) 

TRANSPORT/INFRASTRUCTURE 

CO�Ii\UITEE 

Mr Yeung Kwok Keung (Chairman) 

HONG KONG INTERNATIONAL 
STEERING COMMITTEE 

Mr T B  Stevenson (Chairman) 

Ms Anne Forrest (Vice Chairman) 

Mr Martin Barrow, JP 

Mr Charles Nicholas Brooke 
Mr Chan Wing Kee, JP 
Mr Manohar Chugh 
Mr Barrie Cook 
Mr Michael Dalton 
Mr H M G Forsgate. JP 

Mr Anthony Griffiths 
Mr Helmuth Hennig 
Mr H Y Hung 
Mr John Hung. JP 
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Mr J Kracht 
Mr J P  Lee, JP 

Mrs Eleanor Ling 
Mr J B M Litmaath 
Mr Kerry McGlynn 
Mr Patrick Paul 
Mr Joseph Poon 
Ms Anne Shih 
Mr Terence Sit 
Mr Martin Spurrier 
Mr Peter Sutch 
Dr Eden Woon 
Mr K K Yeung 
Mr Geroge Yuen 

PACIFIC BASIN ECONOMIC 
COUNCIL - HONG KONG, 
CHINA MEMBER COMMITTEE 

Mr John E Strickland (Chairman) 

Mr J P  Lee, JP(Vice Chairman) 

Mr D W M Fergusson 
(Vice Chairman) 

Mr Patrick Paul (Treasurer) 

Dr Helmut Soh men 
(Immediate Past Chairman) 

Mr Martin Barrow 
Mr Raymund Chao 
Mr Po Chung 
Mr David Dodwell 
Mr Thomas J Duffy 
Mr Horst F Geicke 
Mr Markus F Jebsen 
Mr Lcster Kwok 
Mr Edward Kwong 
Mr Gerry Kay 
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Mr Lau Kam Wing 
Mr R W Miller 
Mr Ng Siu Fai 
Mr Peter Sutch 
Mr Richard Tang 
Ms Annie S C Wu 
Mr Gm·don Y S Wu 
Mr Yang Fan Shing 
Miss Marjorie Yang 
Mr Allan Zeman 

HONG KONG·TAIPEI 
BUSINESS COOPERATION 
COMMITTEE 

EXECUTIVE CO�IMITTEE 

Dr Lily Chiang (Chairman) 

Mr J P  Lee, JP (Vice Chairman) 

Mr Simon K Y Lee (Vice Chairman) 

Mr Alfred Au 
Ms V C Davies 
Mr Robert C K Kwok 
Mr Lam Kwok Hing 
Mr Victor Lo 
Mr Patrick Paul 
Mr Si Siu Man 
Mr Robert A Theleen 
Mr Andy H Tseng 
Mr C C Tung 
Mr Hugh S H Wu 
Mr Kong Yam 

HONG KONG FRANCHISE 
ASSOCIATION COMMITTEE 

Mr Y K Pang (Chairman) 
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